
 

AGENDA 
City of Lucas  

City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2020 

7:00 PM 
City Hall – Council Chambers 

665 Country Club Road – Lucas, Texas 
 
On March 16, 2020 Governor Abbott suspended some provisions of the Open Meetings Act in 
response to the COVID-19 emergency. To comply with Government Abbott’s latest Executive 
Order, GA 18, and to practice safe distancing, Lucas City Council meetings will not be open to on-
site visitors. In the interim, City Council meetings will be available through Ring Central Webinar 
from your computer or smartphone. To join the meeting, go to 
https://webinar.ringcentral.com/j/1496005696?pwd=SDFGcHF6WmdmOGFYTU5nYzByVj
NXUT09 PASSWORD 9727278999 you will be asked for your name and email address to join 
the meeting. By clicking on the link to join the meeting, the Ring Central software application will 
be downloaded to your computer. 
 
If the public desires to speak during a specific agenda item, they must email 
shenderson@lucastexas.us by 4:30 pm on the day of the meeting. The email must contain the 
person’s name, address, phone number, and the agenda item(s) for which comments will be made. 
 
Notice is hereby given that a meeting of the Lucas City Council will be held on Thursday, June 18, 2020 at 7:00 pm at 
Lucas City Hall, 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, Texas 75002-7651 at which time the following agenda will be 
discussed. As authorized by Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may convene into closed 
Executive Session for the purpose of seeking confidential legal advice from the City Attorney on any item on the 
agenda at any time during the meeting. 
 
Call to Order            
• Roll Call 
• Determination of Quorum 
• Reminder to turn off or silence cell phones 
• Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 
Citizen Input  
 

1. Citizen Input 
 
 
 

https://webinar.ringcentral.com/j/1496005696?pwd=SDFGcHF6WmdmOGFYTU5nYzByVjNXUT09
https://webinar.ringcentral.com/j/1496005696?pwd=SDFGcHF6WmdmOGFYTU5nYzByVjNXUT09
mailto:shenderson@lucastexas.us


Community Interest            

Pursuant to Section 5510415 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may report on the following items: 
1)expression of thanks, congratulations or condolences; 2) information about holiday schedules; 3) recognition of 
individuals; 4) reminders about upcoming City Council events; 5) information about community events; and 6) 
announcements involving imminent threat to public health and safety. 
 
2. Items of Community Interest 
 
 
Consent Agenda            
 

All items listed under the consent agenda are considered routine and are recommended to the City Council for a single 
vote approval. If discussion is desired, an item may be removed from the consent agenda for a separate vote. 
 
3A. Approval of the minutes of the June 4, 2020 City Council meeting. (City Secretary Stacy 

Henderson)  
 
3B. Adopting Ordinance 2020-06-00916 granting  Atmos Energy Corporation, a Texas and 

Virginia corporation franchise to construct, maintain, and operate pipelines and equipment 
in the City of Lucas for the transportation, delivery, sale, and distribution of gas in, out of, 
and through said City for all purposes. (Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn) 

 
 

Regular Agenda            
 
4. Discuss the City of Lucas Broadband Project including: (City Council) 
 

A. Review the preliminary financial model prepared by Magellan Advisors. 
B. Receive and discuss information from the City’s Financial Advisor Mark McLiney 

regarding funding strategies. 
C. Review and discuss the timetable regarding a bond election. 

 
5. Consider information provided by Lee Engineering for two draft traffic studies: 1) Estelle 

Lane/Gold Dust Trail/Forestview Drive area and 2) Winningkoff Road/Blondy Jhune 
Road area and direct the City Manager on same. (City Council, City Engineer Stanton Foerster) 

 
6. Consider authorizing the City Manager to negotiate and enter into an agreement with 

Collin County for reimbursement for repairs needed to Forest Grove Road from Country 
Club Road to Orr Road if utilized as a detour for the construction of Orr Road north of the 
Lucas city limits. (City Engineer Stanton Foerster) 

 
7. Consider appropriating $361,355.69 to revenue account 11-4984 and expense account 11-

6999-499  regarding funding received as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security Act (CARES Act) for expenses incurred between March 1 through 
December 30, 2020 related to COVID-19 and provide guidance to staff.  (City Manager Joni 
Clarke)  

  



8. Consider postponement of proposed amendments to the City’s Home Rule Charter from 
the November 3, 2020 special election to the May 1, 2021 special election. (Mayor Jim Olk, 
City Secretary Stacy Henderson)  

 
Executive Session Agenda  
 

9. An Executive Session is not scheduled for this meeting. (Mayor Jim Olk) 
 
As authorized by Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may convene into closed 
Executive Session for the purpose of seeking confidential legal advice from the City Attorney regarding any 
item on the agenda at any time during the meeting. This meeting is closed to the public as provided in the 
Texas Government Code. 

 
10. Reconvene from Executive Session and take any action necessary as a result of the 

Executive Session. (Mayor Jim Olk) 
 
11. Adjournment. 
 
 
Certification 

 

I do hereby certify that the above notice was posted in accordance with the Texas Open Meetings Act on the bulletin 
board at Lucas City Hall, 665 Country Club Road, Lucas, TX 75002 and on the City’s website at www.lucastexas.us 
on or before 5:00 p.m. on June 12, 2020. 
 
 
 
_______________________________  
Stacy Henderson, City Secretary 
 
In compliance with the American with Disabilities Act, the City of Lucas will provide for reasonable accommodations 
for persons attending public meetings at City Hall. Requests for accommodations or interpretive services should be 
directed to City Secretary Stacy Henderson at 972.912.1211 or by email at shenderson@lucastexas.us at least 48 
hours prior to the meeting. 

http://www.lucastexas.us/
http://www.lucastexas.us/
mailto:shenderson@lucastexas.us


Item No. 01 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

Requester: Mayor Jim Olk 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Citizen Input  
 
Background Information  
 
NA 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
NA 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
  
NA 
 
Motion  
 
NA 



Item No. 02 
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

 
Requester: Mayor Jim Olk 
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Items of Community Interest 
  
Background Information  
 
NA 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
NA 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
 
NA 
 
Motion  
 
NA 
 
 



Item No. 03 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

 

 
 

Requester: City Secretary Stacy Henderson 
 Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn  

 
Agenda Item Request 

 

 

3. Consent Agenda: 
 

A. Approval of the minutes of the June 4, 2020 City Council meeting. 
 

B. Consider adopting Ordinance 2020-06-00916 granting  Atmos Energy Corporation, a 
Texas and Virginia corporation franchise to construct, maintain, and operate pipelines 
and equipment in the City of Lucas for the transportation, delivery, sale, and 
distribution of gas in, out of, and through said City for all purposes. 

 
Background Information 

 

 
Agenda Item 3B:  
In 2015, development of the Wendy’s and Starbucks prompted the need for an Atmos franchise 
agreement. An agreement was taken to the City Council and approved in 2015 and was forwarded 
to Atmos, but an executed contract was never received.  Staff reached out to Atmos to initiate the 
proposed agreement attached. The agreement would become effective January 1, 2020 and Section 
6 of the agreement covers back pay for use and occupancy of public rights-of-way through 
December 31, 2019.  The agreement has been reviewed and approved by City Attorney Joe Gorfida 
and the attorney for Atmos Energy. The agreement is needed to serve various businesses in Lucas 
that includes the following locations:  
 
- Angel Parkway between Estates and West Lucas Road  
- Estates Road between Angel Parkway and the proposed Allison Lane  
- West Lucas Road from Angel Parkway to proposed Allison Lane 
- Parker Road from 1378 to Stinson Road 
- 1378 from Parker Road to roughly the entrance of Seis Lagos 
 
To finalize the Atmos agreement, upon adoption of the ordinance, an acceptance letter will be sent 
to Atmos requiring approval within 60 days.  
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation 

 

 

1. Minutes of the June 4, 2020 City Council meeting 
2. Ordinance 2020-06-00916 Atmos Franchise Agreement  

  



Item No. 03 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

 

 
Budget/Financial Impact 

 

 

NA 
 
Recommendation 

 

 

City Staff recommends approval of the Consent Agenda. 
 
Motion 

 

 

I make a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 



1 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  J u n e  4 ,  2 0 2 0  

City of  Lucas 
City Council Meeting 

June 4, 2020 
Video Conference Meeting  

7:00 P.M. 
City Hall - 665 Country Club Road – Lucas Texas 

 
MINUTES 

Call to Order  
 
Mayor Olk called the video conference meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
City Councilmembers Present: 
Mayor Jim Olk 
Mayor Pro Tem Kathleen Peele 
Councilmember Wayne Millsap   
Councilmember Tim Baney 
Councilmember Steve Duke 
Councilmember Philip Lawrence 
Councilmember Debbie Fisher 
 

City Staff Present: 
City Manager Joni Clarke 
City Attorney Joe Gorfida  
City Secretary Stacy Henderson  
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn  
Assistant to the City Manager Kent Souriyasak 

Mayor Olk determined that a quorum was present. Everyone was reminded to silence their cell 
phones and the Pledge of Allegiance was recited.   
 
This meeting was conducted by video conference.  
 
Citizen Input 
 
1.  Citizen Input. 
 
There was no citizen comment at this meeting.  
 
Community Interest 
 
2. Items of Community Interest.  
 
Mayor Olk noted the following items of community interest:  
 

• The Farmers Market was scheduled to reopen June 13 at the Lucas Community Park.  
Handwashing/sanitizing stations would be available.   

• The City Council would be holding their budget workshop on July 30 at 6pm.  
• Reminder that it was illegal to discharge fireworks within the City limits of Lucas. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
3. Consent Agenda:  



2 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  J u n e  4 ,  2 0 2 0  

 
A.  Approval of the minutes of the May 21, 2020 City Council meeting.  
 
B. Adopt Ordinance 2020-06-00913 amending the Lucas Code of Ordinances by 

amending Chapter 5 titled “Fire Prevention and Protection” by repealing Article 5.02 
titled “Fire Marshal” and Sections 5.02.01 through 5.02.07 in their entirety and 
reserving Article 5.02 for future use.  

 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Fisher, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Peele 

to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. The motion passed unanimously by a 
7 to 0 vote.  

 
Public Hearing Agenda  
 
4.  Public hearing to consider adopting Ordinance 2020-06-00916 approving the request by 

Alvin and Kimberly Harrison to rezone a 3-acre tract of land situated in the Lewis P. 
Turner 160 acre Survey, Abstract No. 901, Collin County, Texas, same being a portion of 
that tract of land conveyed to Hugh McCreery and Dorothy C. McCreery, by deed 
recorded in Volume 1124, Page 871, Deed Records of Collin County, Texas from 
Residential (R1.5) to Commercial (C) . The parcel of land is located on the north side of 
Parker Road approximately 800 feet west of Stinson Road located at 7403 Parker Road.  

 
Mayor Olk explained that the Planning and Zoning Commission denied the request for rezoning and 
without an appeal filed from the applicant, the Council could not hear the case.  
 
There was no action taken on this item.  
 
Regular Agenda            
 
5. Consider information provided by Birkhoff, Hendricks & Carter regarding Lemontree 

Estates and Kingswood Estates drainage and related watershed and direct the City 
Manager on same.  

 
Joe Grajewski, Birkhoff, Hendricks & Carter reviewed the drainage analysis report conducted in the 
Lemontree Estates and Kingswood Estates neighborhoods and included the following items:  
 

A. Lynn Lane Culvert: 
The culvert is too small but does provide detention during heavy rains.  This culvert inlet is 
located at 1595 Lynn Lane and the outlet is between 1520 and 1580 Lynn Lane.  
 

B. Drainage Channel behind 2, 3, and 4 Kingswood Drive:  
The open channel is too narrow and flat.  The small culvert behind 2 Kingswood Drive is an 
element that was not contemplated in the original design of the Kingswood Estates drainage.  
It is a restriction to the stormwater flow. 

 
C. Citrus Way Culvert:  

The culvert is too small but does provide detention during heavy rains.  The culvert inlet is 
located between 1 and 3 Citrus Way and the outlet is between 6 and 8 Citrus Way at the 
southwest corner of Citrus Way. 



3 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  J u n e  4 ,  2 0 2 0  

 
D. Crossflow from Lemontree Country Estates into Kingswood Estates: 

The original berm has not been maintained along the west side of 3, 5, 7, 9, and 11.  The 
berm is needed to direct stormwater south along the common line between Lemontree 
Country Estates and Kingswood Estates.  Kingswood Drive was not designed to accept this 
stormwater.  

 
E. Reversing Orchard Lane Stormwater Flow:  

Currently there is approximately five feet of fall between the northeast corner of Estates 
Parkway/Orchard Road intersection and the Orchard Road culvert between 8 and 10 
Orchard Road.  The natural flow is from Estates Parkway to the culvert (south to north).  
The flow can be reversed to flow from the culvert to Estates Parkway by constructing a new 
roadside ditch. The ditch would need to be five feet deep and 40 feet wide and have a slope 
of 0.3%. 
 

F. Lemontree Country Estates Drainage Discharge into Kingswood Estates:  
The original design for Kingswood Estates contemplated 15 acres of drainage from 
Lemontree Country Estates into Kingswood Estates.  The actual acreage is 46 acres. 

 
G. Redirecting the Claremont Springs Stormwater to the East:  

Currently the top of the hill on the south side of Estates Parkway is immediately west of 
Ingram Lane.  To redirect the Claremont Springs stormwater flow from under Estates 
Parkway to the south side of Estates Parkway can be done if the top of the hill is moved to 
the west side of the exiting culvert under Estates Parkway.  The new roadside ditch along 
Estates Parkway would need to be four feet deep and 32 feet wide and have a slope of 0.4%.  
Additional right-of-way/easements would be required and the reconstruction of seven 
street/driveway culverts including the culvert under Country Club Road would also be 
necessary.  This redirection would require approval from the Texas Department of 
Transportation; the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality; and the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency. 

 
Mayor Olk read two emails into the record from the following individuals regarding drainage 
comments:  
 

• Mike Aguirre, 1 Santa Fe Trail  
• Jim Iannucci, 9 Kingwood  

 
Mr. Jim Iannucci joined the meeting via video conference and asked if drainage could be run down 
Estates Parkway or if it could be split so as to not intrude in other peoples yards.  
 
Mr. Bill Gunn joined the meeting via video conference and asked if drainage could be rerouted going 
south or east to Orchard Road then head south. Mr. Gunn also discussed addressing drainage concerns 
that occur from the high school.  
 
City Engineer Stanton Foerster discussed how water was intended to travel in that area.  He noted that 
water could be redirected but needed to be cautious of diverting water flow into someone else’s yard. 
Mr. Foerster stated that the high school had diverted ten acres that was diverted to the northwest to 
White Rock Creek.  
 



4 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  J u n e  4 ,  2 0 2 0  

The Council discussed various ways to divert and improve drainage as well as which areas may be the 
best place to begin making changes.  
 
Mayor Olk directed City staff to come back with a proposal of what needs to be done first, identify if 
the area is located on private property or within an easement, the associated cost, and the impact it 
would have on the neighborhood.  
 
There was no formal action taken on this item.  
 
The City Council moved to Agenda Item No. 9 at this time.  
 
9. Discuss and Consider the City of Lucas Broadband Project including:  
 

A. Timelines and milestones associated with the Lucas Broadband project. 
 

B. Recent Broadband Project Review meeting and next phase of the planning process, 
including development of a financial model and feedback received from the City’s 
Financial Advisor Mark McLiney with SAMCO and funding strategies. 
 

C. Submitting a grant application for the Public Works and Economic Adjustment 
Assistance Programs through the Economic Development Administration (EDA), U.S. 
Department of Commerce (DOC). 
 

D. The on-going role of the Technology Committee and City staffing to support the Lucas 
Broadband project. 
 

E. Review timetable options regarding a Bond Election. 
 
Kent Souriyasak, Assistant to the City Manager gave an update to the broadband project noting that 
the financial model was expected to be received by Magellan Advisors in July. Mr. Souriyasak stated 
that the broadband network comprised two main design features, first being the fiber network that 
would encompass approximately 20.2 miles of fiber; and the second component being the distribution 
network of approximately 87.7 miles of fiber throughout the City. The estimated cost was $13,885,317 
for the fiber and distribution network. Additional costs for equipment and working capital would be 
determined in the financial model.  
 
Councilmember Fisher reminded everyone that the initial cost outlined was only for the fiber, not any 
additional equipment or personnel needed.  
 
Mr. Souriyasak stated that he was made aware of a of a Federal grant through the Public Works and 
Economic Adjustment Assistance Program through the Economic Development Administration, but 
was informed that obtaining funding may be difficult as the project was dependent on voter approval.  
Mr. Souriyasak explained that the grant calls for beginning construction within one year and completing 
the project with in five years.  Mr. Souriyasak stated that that he would be applying for the grant later 
this month.  
 
Mayor Olk asked the Council if consideration should be given to holding a bond election in November 
given the timing of the grant.  
 
  



5 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  J u n e  4 ,  2 0 2 0  

Mayor Pro Tem Peele believed that holding a bond election in November could be premature given the 
City did not have the financial model to review and all the necessary information to make an informed 
decision and convey that information to residents.  
 
The City Council discussed the upfront costs associated with installing a fiber network, how the bond 
would be paid for, and how Lucas taxpayers would be affected. Several Councilmembers expressed 
their concern about not having enough financial information before calling a November 2020 bond 
election.  
 
City Manager Joni Clarke suggested Mark McLiney, the City’s financial advisor come to the next City 
Council meeting to discuss the financial impact regarding the issuance of bonds to install a broadband 
network.  
 
The City discussed the number of residents that work from home, the increasing number of residents 
working from home, including students, using internet services given the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
Paul Rathgeb, Chairman of the Technology Committee suggested in the future, the Technology 
Committee may need to be disbanded in order for committee members to be able to discuss the 
broadband project with Lucas residents.  
 
City Attorney Joe Gorfida stated that the Technology Committee could not go out and promote the 
broadband network, but as a committee member, they could speak to the facts and remain neutral.  
 
There was no formal action taken on this item. 
 
The City Council moved back to Agenda Item No. 6.  
 
6. Consider adopting Ordinance 2020-06-00914 creating regulations on private and public 

property for illicit discharge into the City’s stormwater drainage system.  
 
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn explained that the Planning and Zoning Commission was 
asked to review regulations pertaining to illicit discharge and made the following recommended 
updates:  
 

(a) No person shall introduce or cause to be introduced into the MS4 any discharge that 
causes or contributes to causing the City to violate a water quality standard, the City's 
Texas Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (TPDES) permit, or any state-issued 
discharge permit for discharges from its MS4. 
 

(b) No person shall dump, drain, spill, leak, pump, pour, emit, empty, discharge, leach, 
dispose, throw, place or otherwise introduce or cause, allow, or permit to be introduced 
any of the following substances in or on any public street, alley, storm sewer, drainage 
structure, drainage channel, stream, river, pond or any other public property. See 
attached Proposed Illicit Discharge Regulations for a listing of illicit discharges. 

 
Mr. Hilbourn discussed various code requirements with Mayor Pro Tem Peele clarifying their definition 
and discussed examples of illicit discharge and illegal dumping.  
  



6 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  J u n e  4 ,  2 0 2 0  

 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Baney, seconded by Councilmember Duke to 

adopt Ordinance 2020-06-00914 creating regulations (a) and (b) above on private and 
public property for illicit discharge into the City’s stormwater drainage system. The 
motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote.  

 
7. Consider adopting Ordinance 2020-06-00915 relating to amendments to Section 6.02.002 

Prohibited Acts and Section 6.02.003 Abatement making it a violation of the City of 
Lucas Code of Ordinances to obstruct or fail to maintain drainage on properties in the 
City.  

 
Development Services Director Joe Hilbourn explained that the Planning and Zoning Commission was 
asked to review regulations pertaining to stormwater runoff requirements and made the following 
recommended updates related to homeowner maintenance of drainage on private property:  
 
Section 6.02.002 - Prohibited Acts 
 
(d)   It shall be unlawful for any person owning, claiming, occupying or having supervision or 

control of any real property in the city, including any adjacent and contiguous rights-of-way or 
easements, to permit or allow a ditch, water course, culvert, or other earthen structure, to 
obstruct, contribute to obstructions, through either direct action or failure to maintain and 
prevent flooding, or the accumulation or ponding of standing, stagnant, or non-maintained 
water thereon. 

 
Section 6.02.003 - Abatement  
 
(b)  Draining, filling or re-grading any lots, cleaning/repairing/replacing driveway culverts, ground, 

or yards which have standing or stagnant water thereon. 
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Duke, seconded by Councilmember Lawrence 

to adopt Ordinance 2020-06-00915 approving amendments to Section 6.02.002 (d) 
Prohibited Acts and Section 6.02.003 (b) Abatement making it a violation of the City of 
Lucas Code of Ordinances to obstruct or fail to maintain drainage on properties in the 
City. The motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote.  

 
8. Consider nominations of a primary and alternate member to the Regional 

Transportation Council.  
 
Mayor Olk stated that he had reached out to Allen Councilmember, Mr. Schulmeister nominated for 
the primary position at the Regional Transportation Council and shared Lucas’ concerns. Mayor Olk 
stated that he would recommend Ms. Schulmeister for the appointment.  
 
MOTION: A motion was made by Councilmember Millsap, seconded by Mayor Olk to nominate 

Chris Schulmeister, City of Allen as the primary member, and Mayor Hogue, City of 
Wylie as the alternate member.  The motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote.  

 
10. Consider canceling the July 2, 2020 City Council meeting or modifying the meeting 

date.  
 



7 | P a g e   C i t y  C o u n c i l  
  J u n e  4 ,  2 0 2 0  

The Council was in agreement to maintain the July 2, 2020 meeting and to place an item on a future 
agenda regarding whether the City Council will continue to hold meetings by video conference, in 
person or a hybrid of both.  
 
City Attorney Joe Gorfida explained that certain suspensions of the Open Meetings Act will 
continue for at least another 30 days if not possibly longer.  
 
Executive Session  
 
11. Executive Session. 

  
An Executive Session was not held at this meeting.  
 
12. Reconvene from Executive Session and take any action necessary as a result of the 

Executive Session.  
 
An Executive Session was not held at this meeting, and no action was taken.  
 
Adjournment  
 
13. Adjournment.  
 
MOTION:  A motion was made by Councilmember Millsap, seconded by Mayor Olk to adjourn 

the meeting at 9:16 pm. The motion passed unanimously by a 7 to 0 vote.  
 
 
APPROVED:       ATTEST: 
 
 
        ____________________________ 
Mayor Jim Olk  Stacy Henderson, City Secretary  



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 1 TM73778 

ORDINANCE 2020-06-00916 
[GRANTING ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION A FRANCHISE] 

 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING TO ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION, A 
TEXAS AND VIRGINIA CORPORATION, ITS SUCCESSORS AND 
ASSIGNS, A FRANCHISE TO CONSTRUCT, MAINTAIN, AND OPERATE 
PIPELINES AND EQUIPMENT IN THE CITY OF LUCAS, COLLIN 
COUNTY, TEXAS, FOR THE TRANSPORTATION, DELIVERY, SALE, 
AND DISTRIBUTION OF GAS IN, OUT OF, AND THROUGH SAID CITY 
FOR ALL PURPOSES; PROVIDING FOR THE PAYMENT OF A FEE OR 
CHARGE FOR THE USE OF THE PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAYS; AND 
PROVIDING THAT SUCH FEE SHALL BE IN LIEU OF OTHER FEES 
AND CHARGES, EXCEPTING AD VALOREM TAXES; AND 
REPEALING ALL PREVIOUS GAS FRANCHISE ORDINANCES. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LUCAS, TEXAS: 
 

SECTION 1. GRANT OF AUTHORITY:  The City of Lucas, Texas, hereinafter called “City,” 

hereby grants to Atmos Energy Corporation, Mid-Tex Division, hereinafter called "Atmos Energy" 

or “Company,” its successors and assigns, consent to use and occupy the present and future streets, 

alleys, highways, public utility easements, public ways and other public places (“Public Rights-

of-Way”), for the purpose of laying, maintaining, constructing, protecting, operating, and replacing 

therein and thereon pipelines and all other appurtenant equipment (the “System”) to deliver, 

transport, and distribute gas in, out of, and through City for persons, firms, and corporations, 

including all the general public, and to sell gas to persons, firms, and corporations, including all 

the general public, within the City corporate limits, as such limits may be amended from time to 

time during the term of this franchise, said consent being granted for a term ending December 31, 

2039.  This Franchise does not authorize Atmos Energy to use any property owned by the City that 

is not considered Public Rights-of-Way.  

 

SECTION 2. CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE, OPERATION & RELOCATION OF 
 ATMOS ENERGY FACILITIES:    
 

A. General Provisions:  Atmos Energy shall lay, maintain, construct, operate, use, 

extend, remove, repair, and replace its pipes, mains, laterals, and other equipment to minimize 

interference with the proper and intended use of the Public Rights-of-Way. Upon request by the 

City, Atmos Energy shall furnish the City information relevant to such matters which is prepared, 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 2 TM73778 

maintained, and available in the ordinary course of business and not deemed confidential or 

proprietary. 

B. Location and Construction:  The location of all Company’s pipes, mains, laterals, and 

other equipment in the present and future Public Rights-of-Way in the City shall be fixed under the 

supervision of the City or an authorized agent appointed by the City.  In addition, Atmos Energy shall 

comply with applicable permitting requirements, except that in no event shall Atmos Energy or 

contractors working on behalf of Atmos Energy be required to pay for street cutting permits, street 

excavation permits or other permits related to work in Public Rights-of-Way in connection with 

Atmos Energy’s operations in Public Rights-of-Way.  

 Upon reasonable request from the City for a public health or safety purpose, Atmos Energy 

shall identify for the City the location of its System Facilities located in the City. Any maps provided 

by Company to the City shall be deemed confidential and shall be clearly identified as such by Atmos 

Energy when provided to the City, and will be provided solely for the City’s use.  The City agrees to 

maintain the confidentiality of any non-public information obtained from Atmos Energy to the extent 

allowed by law.  If the City receives a request under the Texas Public Information Act that includes 

Atmos Energy’s previously designated proprietary or confidential information, City will request an 

opinion from the Texas Attorney General as to the confidential or the proprietary nature of the 

document(s).  The City also will provide Atmos Energy with notice of the request, and thereafter 

Company is responsible for establishing that an exception under the Texas Public Information Act 

allows the City to withhold the information.  Atmos Energy shall provide all location and “as built” 

plans on a going forward basis if required through the City’s permitting process. 

 Except to the extent a conflict with this Franchise exists, Atmos Energy agrees to comply with 

all other City laws, rules, or ordinances that govern the use of Public Rights-of-Way that currently 

exist or may be applicable during the term of this Franchise.  

 In determining the location of Company's pipeline within City, Company shall minimize 

interference with then existing underground structures of City or other utility franchisees.  

Likewise, in determining the location of the facilities of the City and other users of Public Rights-

of-Way within City, City shall minimize interference with then existing Facilities of Company and 

shall require other users of Public Rights-of-Way to minimize interference with existing Facilities 

of Atmos Energy.  In the event of a conflict between the location of the Facilities of Company and 

the location of the facilities of City or other users of Public Rights-of-Way within Public Rights-



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 3 TM73778 

of-Way that cannot otherwise be resolved, City Manager and/or his  or her designee or an 

authorized agent of City shall resolve the conflict and determine the location of the respective 

facilities within the Public Rights-of-Way. 

 City agrees to provide Atmos Energy with its annual capital improvements plan as well as 

any material updates or changes within a reasonable time after they become available.  City shall 

notify Atmos Energy as soon as reasonably possible of any projects that will affect Atmos Energy’s 

Facilities located in the Public Rights-of-Way. Atmos shall comply with Chapter 251 of the Texas 

Utilities Code with respect to the identification and location of Facilities in the City’s Public 

Rights-of-Way. In the event that Company fails to provide the necessary information, and damage is 

caused to Company Facilities as a direct result of withholding said information, the Company shall 

hold the City harmless from all liability, damage, cost or expense resulting from any City action in 

this regard. 

 C. Restoration:  The surface of any Public Rights-of-Way disturbed by Atmos Energy 

in laying, maintaining, constructing, operating, replacing and removing shall be restored to 

approximate original condition as soon as is reasonably possible.   

When Company makes, or causes to be made, excavations, or places, or causes to be 

placed, obstructions in any Public Rights-of-Way, Company shall place, erect, and maintain 

appropriate barriers and lights to identify the location of such excavations or obstructions In the 

event of emergency requiring excavations in the Public Rights-of-Way, notice shall be made to the 

City as soon as practicable after such emergency excavation.   

In addition to providing the location of Company’s Facilities, Company shall obtain facilities 

location information from other users of the Public Rights-of-Way prior to Company’s construction, 

reconstruction, maintenance, operations and repair of its Facilities. 

D. Relocation:   When the Company is required by City to remove, modify, alter or 

relocate its mains, laterals, and other Facilities lying in the Public Rights-of-Way to accommodate 

construction, repair, maintenance, removal, or installation of sewers, drainage, water lines, streets 

or utilities, such removal, modification, alteration, or relocation shall be promptly made by 

Company when directed in writing to do so by the City and shall do so at its own expense when 

Facilities are deemed to be in conflict, unless such work is for the primary purpose of beautification 

or to accommodate a private developer. Facilities are deemed to be in conflict to the extent that 

the proposed City facilities are determined by Atmos Energy to be inconsistent with gas 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 4 TM73778 

distribution industry standard safe operating practices for Company’s existing facilities.  Atmos 

shall have the right to propose alternative plans regarding City requested relocations to the extent 

that the Company deems City proposed placement of Facilities to be inconsistent with gas 

distribution industry standard safe operating practices for existing Facilities.  Atmos Energy shall 

not be required to relocate facilities to a depth of greater than four (4) feet unless prior agreement 

is obtained from Atmos Energy. 

 Company shall pay the cost of such relocation unless there are funds specifically made 

available to affected users of the Public Right-of-Way for reimbursement of such costs, in which 

case Company shall be entitled to its share of such funding. When Atmos Energy is required by 

City to remove or relocate its mains, laterals, and other facilities lying within Public Rights-of-

Way to accommodate a request by City, and costs of utility removals or relocations are eligible 

under federal, state, county, local or other programs for reimbursement of costs and expenses 

incurred by Atmos Energy as a result of such removal or relocation, and such reimbursement is 

required to be handled through City, Atmos Energy costs and expenses shall be included in any 

application by City for reimbursement if Atmos Energy submits its cost and expense 

documentation to City prior to the filing of the  application. City shall provide reasonable written 

notice to Atmos Energy of the deadline for Atmos Energy to submit documentation of the costs 

and expenses of such relocation to City.  Company shall be required to notify City of the 

availability and request that City make application on Company’s behalf. Upon receipt of an 

amount of reimbursement intended for utility relocations including gas utilities, the City shall remit 

to the Company, within thirty (30) days of receipt, its portion related to the relocation or removal 

of Company’s facilities.  However, nothing in this agreement shall require City to make such 

application.    

 When Atmos Energy is required to remove or relocate its mains, laterals or other facilities 

to accommodate construction by City without reimbursement Atmos Energy shall have the right 

to seek a surcharge to recover relocation costs pursuant to applicable state and/or federal law. 

Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit, alter, or modify in any way the right of Atmos 

Energy to seek or recover a surcharge from customers for the cost of relocation pursuant to 

applicable state and/or federal law. City shall not oppose recovery of relocation costs when 

Company is required by City to perform relocation.  City shall not require that Company document 

a request to the City for reimbursement as a pre-condition to recovery from customers of such 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 5 TM73778 

relocation costs.  When required by City to remove or relocate its mains, laterals, and/or other 

facilities lying within Public Rights-of-Way, Atmos Energy shall do so as soon as practically 

possible with respect to the scope of the project.  In no event shall Atmos Energy be required to 

remove or relocate its facilities in less than thirty (30) days from the time notice is given to Atmos 

Energy by City. In the event Company, after notice, fails or refuses to commence, pursue, or 

complete such relocation work within a reasonable time, the City may require the Company to 

attend a meeting that establishes a formal record of the reasons for the delay and the timeframe in 

which the Company will complete the relocation work.  If Atmos Energy is required by City to 

remove or relocate its mains, laterals, or other facilities lying within Public Rights-of-Way for any 

reason other than the construction or reconstruction of sewers, drainage, water lines, streets or 

utilities by City, Atmos Energy shall be entitled to reimbursement from City or others of the cost 

and expense of such removal or relocation.  If the City requires Atmos Energy to remove, modify, 

alter or relocate its mains, laterals, and other Facilities specifically for the purpose of enabling the 

use of the Public Rights-of-Way by another person or corporation and not the City, the Company 

shall not be bound to make such changes until the other person or corporation has agreed to 

reimburse the Company for relocation expenses, provided however, that the City shall not be liable 

for the reimbursement. 

 E. Abandonment:  If City abandons any Public Rights-of-Way in which Atmos Energy 

has facilities, such abandonment shall be conditioned on Atmos Energy’s right to maintain its use 

of the former Public Right-of-Way and on the obligation of the party to whom the Public Right-

of-Way is abandoned to reimburse Atmos Energy for all removal or relocation expenses if Atmos 

Energy agrees to the removal or relocation of its facilities following abandonment of the Public 

Right-of-Way.  If the party to whom the Public Right-of-Way is abandoned requests Atmos Energy 

to remove or relocate its facilities and Atmos Energy agrees to such removal or relocation, such 

removal or relocation shall be done within a reasonable time at the expense of the party requesting 

the removal or relocation.  If relocation cannot practically be made to another Public Right-of-

Way, the expense of any right-of-way acquisition shall be considered a relocation expense to be 

reimbursed by the party requesting the relocation. 

 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 6 TM73778 

SECTION 3. INDEMNITY & INSURANCE:    

A. General Provisions:  In consideration of the granting of this Franchise, Atmos 

Energy agrees that the City, its agents and employees shall not be liable or responsible for any 

costs, expenses (including attorney fees) or any other damages to persons or property by reason of 

Atmos Energy’s construction, operation, maintenance, or replacement of Atmos Energy’s System 

within Public Rights-of-Way, and Atmos Energy does hereby release, agree to indemnify and keep 

harmless the City, its agents and employees from and against all suits, actions, or claims of injury 

to any person or persons, or damages to any property brought or made for or on account of any 

death, injuries, to or damages received or sustained by any person or persons or for damage to or 

loss of property arising out of, or occasioned by any acts or omissions by Atmos Energy, its agents 

or employees in connection with their operations, except to the extent such death, injury or damage 

is attributable to the City's negligent or intentional acts or omissions. In the event that any action, 

suit, or proceeding is brought against the City, its agents and employees, upon any liability arising 

out of Atmos Energy’s operations, the City shall give notice in writing to Atmos Energy.  Upon 

receipt of such notice, Atmos Energy, at its sole expense, shall defend such action and take all such 

steps as may be necessary or proper to prevent the obtaining of a judgment against the City and/or 

to satisfy said judgment.  The City agrees to reasonably cooperate with Atmos Energy in 

connection with such defense. In the event of joint and concurrent negligence or fault of both 

Atmos Energy and the City, responsibility and indemnity, if any, shall be apportioned 

comparatively in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas without, however, waiving any of 

the defenses of the parties under Texas law. It is understood that it is not the intention of the parties 

hereto to create liability for the benefit of third parties, but that this section shall be solely for the 

benefit of the parties hereto and shall not create or grant any rights, contractual or otherwise, to 

any person or entity. 

 B. Damage to City Property:  If, as a result of negligence or intentional acts or 

omissions Atmos Energy employees damage the facilities owned by City within the Public Rights-

of-Way, Atmos will be responsible for repairing the damages without charge to the City.  However, 

if such damage by Atmos Energy’s employees is due to inaccurate information with respect to the 

location or description of City’s facilities within the Public Rights-of-Way, City will be responsible 

for all costs associated with such repair or related consequences. Atmos Energy agrees to notify the 

appropriate City official as soon as reasonably possible after the occurrence of such damage.    



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 7 TM73778 

 C. Damage to Atmos Energy Property by City: If, as a result of negligence or 

intentional acts or omissions, including failure to obtain location information from the Company, 

the City’s employees damage Facilities owned by Atmos Energy within the Public Rights-of-Way, 

the City shall be responsible for the repair of such damage without charge to the Company.  

However, if such damage by the City’s employees is due to inaccurate information with respect to 

the location or description of Atmos Energy’s Facilities within the Public Rights-of-Way, Atmos 

Energy will be responsible for all costs associated with such repair or related consequences.  City 

agrees to notify the appropriate personnel of Atmos Energy as soon as reasonably possible after 

the occurrence of such damage.   

 D. Damage to Atmos Energy Property Due to Work by Others:  The City reserves the 

right to permit to be laid, sewer, water, electric, and other utilities, pipe lines, cables, and conduits, 

,and to do and permit to be done any underground or aboveground work that may be necessary or 

proper within the Public Rights-of-Way.  The City also reserves the right to change any curb, 

sidewalk, grade of the street or other changes due to a publicly funded city project.  In permitting 

this work to be done, the City shall not be liable to the Company for any resulting damage, but 

nothing herein shall relieve any other person or corporation from being responsible for the 

damages to Atmos Energy Facilities. 

 E. Insurance:  Company shall maintain adequate insurance covering its obligations of 

indemnity under this Franchise.  Such insurance shall be at the Company’s sole expense. Atmos 

Energy's insurance of its obligations and risks undertaken pursuant to this Franchise may be in the 

form of self-insurance to the extent permitted by applicable law, but in no instance shall such self-

insurance be less than $10,000,000 in commercial insurance coverages.  An insurance certificate 

shall be provided to the City initially and upon any substantial change in the nature of its coverage 

under this Section. This Franchise shall satisfy any requirements in the City of Lucas Code of 

Ordinances with respect to proof of appropriate insurance or other financial assurance required for 

receipt of a permit to perform work within the Public Rights-of-Way. 

 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 8 TM73778 

SECTION 4. QUALITY OF SERVICE, RATES, INSTALLATION CHARGES, DEPOSITS 
AND OTHER COMPANY CHARGES  

 
 A. General Provisions:  Atmos Energy shall at all times furnish service which is safe, 

modern and sufficient to meet reasonable demands without undue interruption or fluctuations to 

any person, firm, or corporation that demands service within the City.  The service provided shall 

be equal to or better in all instances to those required within the Mid-Tex Tariff – Service Rules 

and Regulations as may be amended from time to time, and as kept on file with the City.  In 

addition to the rates charged for gas supplied, Company may make and enforce reasonable charges 

for service rendered in the conduct of its business, including a charge for services rendered in the 

inauguration of natural gas service.   

 B. Service Rates:  The City hereby expressly reserves the right, power, and authority 

to fully regulate and fix the rates and charges for the services of Atmos Energy to its customers 

located within the City as provided by State law.  Atmos Energy shall at all times have current 

rates and charges on file with the City Secretary and shall update such within fifteen (15) days of 

any changes thereto. 

 

SECTION 5. NON-EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE:   The rights, privileges, and franchises 

granted by this ordinance are not to be considered exclusive, and City hereby expressly reserves 

the right to grant, at any time, like privileges, rights, and franchises as it may see fit to any other 

person or corporation for the purpose of transporting, delivering, distributing, or selling gas to and 

for City and the inhabitants thereof.   

 

SECTION 6. PAYMENTS TO CITY:    

A. Atmos Energy agrees to pay and City agrees to accept, a one-time payment of two 

hundred and fifty dollars ($250.00) in consideration of the use and occupancy of the Public Rights-

of-Way during the prior period ending December 31, 2019.  Atmos Energy, its successors and 

assigns, agrees to pay and City agrees to accept, on or before the 15th day of February, 2021 and 

on or before the same day of each succeeding year during the term of this franchise the last payment 

being made on the 15th day of February, 2040, a sum of money which shall be equivalent to five 

percent (5%) of the Gross Revenues, as defined in6.B below, received by Atmos Energy during 

the preceding calendar year.  



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 9 TM73778 

B. "Gross Revenues" shall mean:  

(1) all revenues received by Atmos Energy from the sale of gas to all classes of 

customers (excluding gas sold to another gas utility in the City for resale to 

its customers within City) within the City; 

(2) all revenues received by Atmos Energy from the transportation of gas 

through the System of Atmos Energy within the City to customers located 

within the City (excluding any gas transported to another gas utility in City 

for resale to its customers within City);and  

(3) “Gross Revenues” shall not include: 

(a) revenues billed but not ultimately collected or received by Atmos 

Energy; 

(b) contributions in aid of construction; 

(c) the revenue of any affiliate or subsidiary of Atmos Energy; 

(d) sales tax and franchise fees paid to the City;  

(e) interest or investment income earned by Atmos Energy; and 

(f) monies received from the lease or sale of real or personal property, 

provided, however, that this exclusion does not apply to the lease of 

facilities within the City's right of way. 

C. Privilege Period:  The initial payment for the rights and privileges herein provided 

shall be for the privilege period January 1 through December 31, 2020, and each succeeding 

payment shall be for the privilege period of the calendar year preceding the year in which the 

payment is made. 

D.  Payment in Lieu of:  It is also expressly agreed that the aforesaid payments shall be 

in lieu of any and all other and additional occupation taxes, easement, franchise taxes or charges 

(whether levied as an ad valorem, special, or other character of tax or charge), municipal license, 

permit, and inspection fees, bonds, street taxes, and street or alley rentals or charges, and all other 

and additional municipal taxes, charges, levies, fees, and rentals of whatsoever kind and character 

that City may now impose or hereafter levy and collect from Atmos Energy or Atmos Energy’s 

agents, excepting only the usual general or special ad valorem taxes that City is authorized to levy 

and impose upon real and personal property.  If the City does not have the legal power to agree 

that the payment of the foregoing sums of money shall be in lieu of taxes, licenses, fees, street or 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 10 TM73778 

alley rentals or charges, easement or franchise taxes or charges aforesaid, then City agrees that it 

will apply so much of said sums of money paid as may be necessary to satisfy Atmos Energy’s 

obligations, if any, to pay any such taxes, licenses, charges, fees, rentals, easement or franchise 

taxes or charges aforesaid. 

E. Effect of Other Municipal Franchise Ordinance Fees Accepted and Paid by Atmos 
Energy 

 
If Atmos Energy should at any time after the effective date of this Ordinance agree to a 

new municipal franchise ordinance, or renew an existing municipal franchise ordinance, with 

another municipality in Atmos Energy’s Mid-Tex Division, which municipal franchise ordinance 

determines the franchise fee owed to that municipality for the use of its public rights-of-way in a 

manner that, if applied to the City, would result in a franchise fee greater than the amount otherwise 

due City under this Ordinance, then the franchise fee to be paid by Atmos Energy to City pursuant 

to this Ordinance may, at the election of the City, be increased so that the amount due and to be 

paid is equal to the amount that would be due and payable to City were the franchise fee provisions 

of that other franchise ordinance applied to City.  The City acknowledges that the exercise of this 

right is conditioned upon the City’s acceptance of all terms and conditions of the other municipal 

franchise in toto.  The City may request waiver of certain terms and Company may grant, in its 

sole reasonable discretion, such waiver. 

F. Atmos Energy Franchise Fee Recovery Tariff 

(1) Atmos Energy may file with the City a tariff or tariff amendment(s) to 

provide for the recovery of the franchise fees under this agreement. 

(2) City agrees that (i) as regulatory authority, it will adopt and approve the 

ordinance, rates or tariff which provide for 100% recovery of such franchise 

fees as part of Atmos Energy’s rates; (ii) if the City intervenes in any 

regulatory proceeding before a federal or state agency in which the recovery 

of Atmos Energy’s franchise fees is an issue, the City will take an 

affirmative position supporting 100% recovery of such franchise fees by 

Atmos Energy and; (iii) in the event of an appeal of any such regulatory 

proceeding in which the City has intervened, the City will take an 

affirmative position in any such appeals in support of the 100% recovery of 

such franchise fees by Atmos Energy. 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 11 TM73778 

(3) City agrees that it will take no action, nor cause any other person or entity 

to take any action, to prohibit the recovery of such franchise fees by Atmos 

Energy. 

G. Lease of Facilities Within City’s Rights-of-Way.  Atmos Energy shall have the right 

to lease, license or otherwise grant to a party other than Atmos Energy the use of its facilities 

within the City’s public rights-of-way provided: (i) Atmos Energy first notifies the City of the 

name of the lessee, licensee or user; the type of service(s) intended to be provided through the 

facilities; and the name and telephone number of a contact person associated with such lessee, 

licensee or user and (ii) Atmos Energy makes the franchise fee payment due on the revenues from 

such lease pursuant to Section 5 of this Ordinance.  This authority to Lease Facilities within City’s 

Rights-of-Way shall not affect any such lessee, licensee or user’s obligation, if any, to pay 

franchise fees. 

 

SECTION 7. DEFAULT AND FORFEITURE.    

In the event Atmos Energy has failed or refused to correct a defect, impairment or 

substandard condition after written notice by the City and  such failure has continued for longer 

than thirty (30) days from the date the notice was received by the Company, the City shall have 

the right to file a claim through the Company’s claims department.   The City shall notify the 

Company, in writing, of an alleged failure to comply with a material provision of this Franchise, 

which notice shall specify the alleged failure with reasonable particularity.  The Company shall, 

within thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice or such longer period of time as the City may 

specify in such notice, either cure such alleged failure or, in a written response to the City, either 

present facts and arguments in refutation or excuse of such alleged failure or state that such alleged 

failure will be cured and set forth the method and time schedule for accomplishing such cure.  In 

the event that such cure is not forthcoming, such default shall entitle the City to compel compliance 

by suit in any court of competent jurisdiction and if, upon final judgment, not subject to further 

appeal, being entered in favor of the City, the Company remains in default of any material 

provision of this Franchise or the final judgment, the City may declare this Franchise to be forfeited 

and canceled. Prior to a decision from such court, the Company shall have the right to operate its 

Facilities pursuant to the provisions of this Franchise. 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 12 TM73778 

 Atmos Energy further agrees, that if, for any reason other than an event of force majeure, 

the Company fails to pay the regularly scheduled franchise fees as provided in this Franchise 

within thirty (30) days following written notice from the City that the Company has failed to make 

payment, such failure shall be sufficient to permit the City to forfeit this Franchise without court 

action. For the purposes of this section, an event of force majeure means any event or circumstance 

or combination of events or circumstances beyond the reasonable control of the Company that 

materially and adversely affects or affect the performance by the Company of its obligations under 

or pursuant to this Franchise including but not limited to, an act of God; act of civil or military 

authority; act of war; (whether declared or undeclared); act ( including delay, failure to act, or 

priority) of any governmental authority (including the City); civil disturbance; insurrection or riot; 

sabotage; fire; inclement weather conditions; earthquake; flood; strike; work stoppage or other 

labor difficulty; embargo; or other failure or delay beyond it’s reasonable control.  The Company’s 

financial inability to perform shall expressly be excluded from force majeure events.  In the event 

that any of the above force majeure circumstances prevent the timely payment of franchise fees, 

the Company shall notify the City within five (5) business days. 

 

SECTION 8. CONFORMITY TO LAWS AND REGULATIONS.   

 A. Applicable Laws.  Notwithstanding Section 13.B below, this Franchise is subject 

to applicable provisions of the Constitution and Laws of the United States and the State of Texas.  

This Franchise shall in no way affect or impair the rights, obligations, or remedies of the parties 

under the Public Utility Regulatory Act of Texas, as it may be amended from time to time.  Except 

as expressly provided herein, Atmos Energy shall not recover costs or expenses directly from the 

City (exclusive of charges related to the City’s billings as a customer) for taking any actions 

mandated by this Franchise or by any order or request issued by authority of this Franchise.   

 B. Reservation of Right to Adopt Rules and Regulations:  The City reserves the right 

to adopt, in addition to the provisions included in this Franchise, such additional reasonable 

regulations as it shall find necessary with respect to governing the use of its Public Rights-of-Way, 

provided, however, that such regulations are not in conflict with the privileges granted by this 

Franchise.  

SECTION 9. ACCEPTANCE OF FRANCHISE:  In order to accept this franchise, Atmos 

Energy must file with the City Secretary its written acceptance of this franchise ordinance within 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 13 TM73778 

sixty (60) days after its final passage and approval by City.  If such written acceptance of this 

franchise ordinance is not filed by Atmos Energy, the franchise ordinance shall be rendered null 

and void. 

 When this franchise ordinance becomes effective, all previous ordinances of City granting 

franchises for gas delivery purposes that were held by Atmos Energy shall be automatically 

canceled and annulled, and shall be of no further force and effect. 

  

SECTION 10 PARAGRAPH HEADINGS. CONSTRUCTION:  The paragraph headings 

contained in this ordinance are for convenience only and shall in no way enlarge or limit the scope 

or meaning of the various and several paragraphs hereof.  Both parties have participated in the 

preparation of this ordinance and this ordinance shall not be construed either more or less strongly 

against or for either party. 

 

SECTION 11. EFFECTIVE DATE:  If Atmos Energy accepts this ordinance, it becomes 

effective as of January 1, 2020. 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED on this the ______ day of ___________________,2020. 

 

 

ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________  ___________________________________  
Stacy Henderson, City Secretary   Jim Olk, Mayor 
City of Lucas, Texas     City of Lucas, Texas 
 
 



CITY OF LUCAS/ATMOS ENERGY 
LUCAS GAS FRANCHISE – PAGE 14 TM73778 

STATE OF TEXAS   § 
 
COUNTY OF COLLIN  § 
 
CITY OF LUCAS   § 
 
 I, Stacy Henderson, City Secretary of the City of Lucas, Collin County, Texas, do hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct copy of an ordinance passed by the City 

Council of the City of Lucas, Texas, at a _________________ session, held on the ______ day of 

___________________, 2020, as it appears of record in the Minutes in Book _____________, 

page _______. 

 WITNESS MY HAND AND SEAL OF SAID CITY, this the ___ day of 

_________________, 2020. 

 
     ________________________________ 

        Stacy Henderson, City Secretary 
        City of Lucas, Texas 
 

 



Item No. 04 
 
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

Requester: City Council 
  
Agenda Item Request  
 
Discuss the City of Lucas Broadband Project including: 
 

A. Review the preliminary financial model prepared by Magellan Advisors. 
 

B. Receive and discuss information from the City’s Financial Advisor Mark McLiney 
regarding funding strategies. 
 

C. Review and discuss the timetable regarding a bond election. 
 

Background and Financial Information  
 
Due to concerns raised by citizens about the lack of adequate and reliable internet service in 
Lucas, the City has made efforts to research solutions that would improve broadband.  The City 
Council appointed residents to form the Technology Committee to provide recommendations on 
issues of community-wide interests relating to information technology and internet service.  The 
Technology Committee has met and discussed with various internet providers regarding the lack 
of adequate internet service.  The internet providers indicated that they are unwilling to improve 
or expand internet service due to low-density housing and large lots which would not be an 
economical rate of return. 
 
In 2019, the City conducted an internet speed test survey to map internet speeds from household 
respondents.  The internet speed test revealed that 61% (or 316 out of 514 households) of 
respondents reported having internet speed below 25 Mbps.  The Federal Communications 
Commission considers an internet speed of 25 Mbps or less to be below the benchmark for 
adequate internet service.  The Technology Committee explored the possibility of municipal 
broadband and recommended that the City pursue a broadband feasibility study.  The City 
Council approved acquiring the services of Magellan Advisors who are currently preparing the 
broadband feasibility study which includes a conceptual network design and financial model. 
 
This agenda item is to provide the City Council additional information about the Lucas 
Broadband project including a review and discussion of the preliminary costs and financial 
model prepared by Magellan Advisors.  Magellan Advisors has scheduled a Zoom meeting on 
June 17, 2020 to review the preliminary financial model with City Council.  An agenda item will 
be tentatively scheduled for the July 2, 2020 City Council meeting to obtain additional feedback 
from the City Council in order to finalize the financial model and feasibility study.  Assistant to 
the City Manager Kent Souriyasak will collect any feedback from the City Council to provide to 
Magellan Advisors. 



Item No. 04 
 
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

Below is a tentative meeting schedule regarding the broadband project: 
 
June 17, 2020  Magellan Advisors reviews preliminary financial model with City Council 
June 22 or 23, 2020 Magellan Advisors provides a project update 
July 2, 2020  City Council meeting to provide additional feedback regarding the 

financial model and feasibility study 
July 13, 2020  Magellan Advisors reviews the draft of the feasibility study 
July 16, 2020 City Council meeting to provide any feedback regarding the draft of the 

feasibility study 
To Be Determined Magellan Advisors provides the final feasibility study 
 
Magellan Advisors has completed the first phase of the feasibility study to determine the 
buildout cost for the fiber backbone and distribution network.  The buildout cost has been 
adjusted in the pending financial model to represent the construction of 80% underground and 
20% aerial fiber within city limits.  The financial model will include additional costs for 
operations, equipment, and working capital. 
 
Magellan Advisors is continuing work on the financial model that will include total costs for the 
construction, operation, and maintenance of a broadband network over a recommended time 
period.  Magellan Advisors indicated that the primary factors to adjust the financial model are 
the uptake for internet service, rate structure, and cost structure for capital and operating 
expenses.  Magellan Advisors will review details of the financial model with City Council at the 
June 17, 2020 meeting. 
 
The broadband project would be similar to the City’s water service and set up as a separate 
enterprise fund where it can be self-sustaining through the revenue generated by the customer 
base for the services provided.  The City Council indicated funding for the project would need to 
be approved by the citizens through a bond election.  Bond elections are limited to uniform 
election dates which are Tuesday, November 3, 2020 or Saturday, May 1, 2021.  The key date 
for calling a bond election is the adoption of an ordinance which must be done no more than 90 
days and no less than 78 days prior to either election date. 
 
Possible funding sources for the broadband project would be through (1) bond funds, (2) federal 
grant(s), and (3) reserves.  City staff is pursuing a grant from the Economic Development 
Administration (EDA), U.S. Department of Commerce (DOC) that may fund a portion of the 
broadband project if awarded.  Reserves could be used or loaned with interest to the Technology 
Fund as a means of reducing the amount of debt funding. 
 
Discussions with Magellan Advisors, SAMCO Capital Markets, and the Bond Counsel at Norton 
Rose Fulbright have occurred to discuss funding strategies, timelines, and gain insight on similar 
broadband projects at the Cities of Dayton and Mont Belvieu.  The Bond Counsel indicated that 
the working capital funding is limited to 10% of the total project/bond amount, there is no 
anticipated impact on the City’s bond rating, and the ad valorem tax base provides the underlying 
credit support in the event that the project does not perform as expected. 



Item No. 04 
 
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Lucas Internet Speed Test Map 
2. Timetable for a Bond Election on Tuesday, November 3, 2020 
3. Timetable for a Bond Election on Saturday, May 1, 2021 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
The preliminary financial model will be sent out to City Council prior to the June 17, 2020 
meeting with Magellan Advisors.  The financial impact will be based on the finalization of the 
financial model and feasibility study by Magellan Advisors. 
 
Recommendation  
 
NA 
 
Motion  
 
There is no motion required. 



City of Lucas Internet Speed Test Map 
Dated June 10, 2020 

 
 

 
 

 



82633456.1  

q 
 

City of Lucas, Texas  
Timetable for a Bond Election on Tuesday, November 3, 2020 – to be Called August 5-17, 2020 

Event Time Required Date Done 
City staff confers with financial advisor/bond counsel  At least 4 weeks before calling election June 2020  
City staff explores possible polling locations At least 3 weeks before calling election July 2020   
City Council adopts ordinance calling election Not more than 90 days or less than 78 days 

prior to election1 
August 6, 2020 (Thurs.) 
  

Bond counsel orders translations (Spanish, etc.) Immediately after calling the election August 7, 2020 (Fri.)  
Bond counsel delivers ballot to election official Deadline determined by election official Est. August 31, 2020 (Mon.)  
Bond counsel delivers notice of election to the county election 
official2 

Not later than 60 days before election September 4, 2020 (Fri.)  

Last day to register to vote 30 days prior to election3 October 4, 2020 (Sun.)  
City staff publishes first notice of election in English, Spanish, 
and other applicable languages  

Not more than 30 days or less than 14 days 
prior to election4 

Submit by October 7 (Weds.)  
October 8, 2020 (Thurs.)  

City staff posts notice of election (all applicable languages) 
prominently on the City’s website 

Not later than 21 days before election until 
after election 

October 13, 2020 (Tues.)  

City staff posts sample ballot on the City’s website Not later than 21 days before election until 
after election 

October 13, 2020 (Tues.)  

City staff posts notice of election (all applicable languages) at 
City Hall’s bulletin board 

Not later than 21 days before election until 
after election 

October 13, 2020 (Tues.)  

City staff posts notice of election and voter information 
document (all applicable languages) at three public places in 
the City 

Not later than 21 days before election until 
after election 

October 13, 2020 (Tues.) 
 

City staff publishes second notice of election 
(all applicable languages) 

Exactly one week after first publication Submit by October 14 (Weds.) 
October 15, 2020 (Thurs.)   

Early voting begins 17 days prior to election day5 October 19, 2020 (Mon.)  
Early voting ends 4 days prior to election day October 30, 2020 (Fri.)  
Election day 1st Tuesday after the 1st Monday in 

November 
November 3, 2020 (Tues.)  

City Council canvasses election returns Not later than 14 days after election and not 
earlier than the later of: (1) the 3rd day after 
election; (2) the date the provisional ballots 
have been counted; or (3) the date that all 
timely cast overseas ballot have been 
counted6 

November 6, 2020 (Fri.) 
through 
November 17, 2020 (Tues.)  

End of election contest period Later of 30 days after canvassing or 15 days 
after electronic records publicly  available 

Generally no later than 
December 17. 2020 (Thurs.)  

 

 
1 This window is Wednesday, August 5, 2020 to Monday, August 17, 2020. Notice of the meeting must be posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. In home-rule cities, 

charter requirements for election notices must be followed. Ordinance reading requirements need not be followed but may be. Gov’t Code § 1201.028. If so, all readings 
should occur within the “call window.” 

2 Bond counsel will provide the election official with appropriate notices of election for each polling location, typically after this deadline. 
3 Because the deadline falls on Sunday, October 4, the Secretary of State typically moves the date to the next business day. The deadline is not affected by the Columbus 

holiday (October 12, 2020). 
4 The first day to publish the first time is Sunday, October 4, 2020, and the last day to publish the first time is Tuesday, October 20, 2020. The second publication must occur 

one week after the first publication on the same day of the week as the first publication. The Allen American publishes legal notices on Thursdays. Notice must be submitted 
by 1:00 pm the Wednesday before publication. Payment may also be required at that time. The entire notice must be published in both languages. 

5 The early voting period for a November election is typically longer than a May election. Because the first day of the early voting period falls on Saturday, October 17, 2020, 
the date moves to the next business day. The results from early voting are not available until 7:00 p.m. on election day. 

6 This canvass period applies to a November election in even-numbered years. Notice of the canvass meeting should be posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. Final 
results including mailed and provisional ballots may not be available until the last two days of the canvassing period. An election with close results may be affected. 



82633455.1 

 
 

City of Lucas, Texas 
Timetable for a Bond Election on Saturday, May 1, 2021 – to be called January 31-February 12, 2021 

Event Time Required Date Done 
City confers with financial advisor/bond counsel  At least 4 weeks before calling election January 2021   
City staff explores polling locations At least 2 weeks before calling election January 2021   
City Council adopts an ordinance calling the 
election 

Not more than 90 days or less than 
78 days prior to election1 

February 4, 2021 (Thurs.)  

Bond counsel orders translations (Spanish, etc.) Immediately after calling the election February 5, 2021 (Fri.)  
Bond counsel delivers ballot language to election 
official 

determined by the election official Estimated 
February 17, 2021 (Mon.)  

Bond counsel delivers notice of election to the 
county election official2 

Not later than 60 days before election March 2, 2021 (Tues.)  

City staff publishes first notice of election in 
English, Spanish, and other applicable languages 

Not more than 30 days or less than 
14 days prior to election3 

Submit by March 31 (Weds.) 
April 1, 2021 (Thurs.)  

Last day to register to vote 30 days prior to election April 1, 2021 (Thur.)  
City posts sample ballot on the City’s website Not later than 21 days prior to election 

until after election day4 
April 9, 2021 (Fri.)  

City staff posts notice of election (all applicable 
languages) prominently on the City’s website 

Not later than 21 days prior to election 
until after election day 

April 9, 2021 (Fri.)  

City staff posts sample ballot on the City’s website Not later than 21 days prior to election 
until after election day 

April 9, 2021 (Fri.)  

City staff posts notice of election (all applicable 
languages) at City Hall on the bulletin board used 
for posting meeting notices 

Not later than 21 days prior to election 
until after election day 

April 9, 2021 (Fri.) 
 

City staff posts notice of election and voter 
information document (all applicable languages) at 
three public places within the City 

Not later than 21 days prior to election 
until after election day 

April 9, 2021 (Fri.) 
 

City staff publishes second notice of election (all 
applicable languages) 

Exactly one week after first publication Submit by April 7 (Weds.) 
April 8, 2021 (Thurs.)  

Early voting begins 12 days prior to election5 April 19, 2021 (Mon.)  
Early voting ends 4 days prior to election April 27, 2021 (Tues.)  
Election day First Saturday in May May 1, 2021 (Sat.)  
City Council canvasses election returns Not later than 11 days after election and not 

earlier than the later of: (1) the 3rd day after 
election; (2) the date the provisional ballots have 
been counted; or (3) the date that all timely cast 
overseas ballot have been counted6 

May 4, 2021 (Tues.) 
through  
May 12, 2021 (Wed.)7  

End of election contest period Later of 30 days after canvassing or 15 
days after electronic records publicly 
available 

Generally no later than 
June 11, 2021 (Fri.)  

                                                
1 This window is January 31, 2021 to February 12, 2021. Notice of the meeting to call the election should be posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. In home-rule 

cities, charter requirements for election notices must be followed. Ordinance reading requirements need not be followed but may be. Gov’t Code § 1201.028. If 
so, all readings should occur within the “call window.” 

2 Bond Counsel will provide the election official with appropriate Notices of Election for each polling location. 
3 The first day to publish the notice is April 1, 2021, and the last day is April 21, 2021. The second publication must occur one week after the first publication on the 

same day of the week as the first publication. The Allen American publishes legal notices on Thursdays. Notice must be submitted by 1:00 pm the Wednesday before 
publication. Payment may also be required at that time. The entire notice must be published in both languages.  

4 Because this deadline falls on Saturday, April 10, the Secretary of State typically rolls the deadline forward to Monday, April 13. We recommend early compliance. 
5 This early voting period applies only to the May election date. 
6 This canvassing time applies only to the May election date. Notice of the meeting to canvass the election should be posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 
7 Due to recent changes in state and federal law, final results including mailed and provisional ballots may not be available until the last two days of the canvassing 

period. An election with close results may be affected. 



Item No. 05 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

Requester: City Council 
 City Engineer Stanton Foerster  
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Consider information provided by Lee Engineering for two draft traffic studies: 1) Estelle 
Lane/Gold Dust Trail/Forestview Drive area and 2) Winningkoff Road/Blondy Jhune Road area 
and direct the City Manager on same. 
 
Background Information  
 
Councilmember Wayne Millsap raised a concern regarding the stop signs and road humps on 
Forestview Drive and Gold Dust Trail within the Huntwick neighborhood. With the purchase of 
a new fire engine and construction closure of Blondy Jhune Road, the potential problem of stop 
signs and road humps has not been addressed. Councilmember Millsap’s primary concern was 
the emergency calls that Lucas Fire-Rescue will need to respond to in the Huntwick 
neighborhood and beyond. There are possibly three stop-sign intersections and three road humps 
that could present a hazard to the fire engines and ambulance. There is also a time delay that 
could occur when sufficiently slowing down in order to avoid damage. A larger apparatus will be 
slower in slowing down to proceed over the road humps.  
 
The new fire engine was delivered in March of 2019, and construction closure of Winningkoff 
Road is planned for this year. With the new fire engine and timing of the road construction, it is 
important to discuss how to reduce the potential problem of stop signs and road humps as it can 
directly affect Lucas Fire-Rescue apparatus during an emergency response. 
 
During the April 4, April 18, June 6, and June 20, 2019, City Council meetings, this issue was 
discussed in various forms and from numerous points of view.  
 
As directed by the City Council, the City Manager requested the City Engineer to contact Lee 
Engineering to request a proposal based on the criteria listed on the Item 9 June 20, 2019, cover 
sheet.  Lee Engineering responded with a proposal on July 26, 2019, and the proposal was 
emailed to the City Council on July 29, 2019, for review. 
 
On September 5, 2019, the City Council authorized the City Manager to enter into an agreement 
with Lee Engineering for the said study.  The agreement was executed on October 14, 2019.  
 
During the week of March 2, both turning movement counts and speed/count data was collected 
on a 24-hour basis along Winningkoff Road, Blondy Jhune Road, Forestview Drive, and Estelle 
Lane by Lee Engineering.   
 



Item No. 05 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

On April 4, Mayor Jim Olk, City Manager Joni Clarke, and City Engineer Stanton Foerster 
visited remotely with Lee Engineering staff to discuss the draft information obtained and 
reviewed for the 1) Estelle/Forestview/Huntwick study and 2) the Blondy Jhune/Winningkoff 
study.  Lee Engineering staff was working from their homes due to Dallas County Covid-19 
restrictions and was not able to access all of their equipment.  Some of this equipment was 
needed to complete the final report.  Lee Engineering was able to complete their measurements 
the week on May 21, 2020. 
 
Based on the draft report, the City Engineer requested that Public Works do the following:  1) 
add the trimming of the vegetation north and south of Blondy Jhune Road along Winningkoff 
Road be added to the routine Public Works activities and 2) replace the eastbound Blondy Jhune 
Road Yield sign with a Stop sign.   
 
Task 3 of the Lee Engineering agreement contemplates additional work by Lee for the City of 
Lucas.  During the various discussions, the need for Origin and Destination data collection and 
analysis was considered as possible additional work.  Other items of additional work might 
include: 
 
1) Stop sign control at other intersections, 
2) calculation of 85% speeds,   
3) implantation/removal of traffic control devices, and  
4) implantation/removal of traffic calming devices. 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Draft W. Estelle Lane Traffic Study dated June 1, 2020 
2. Draft Memorandum and Analysis for the Multiway Stop Control Warrant for Blondy Jhune 

Road at Winningkoff Road Study dated May 28, 2020 
3. Lee Engineering Professional Service Agreement dated September 10, 2019  
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
 
NA 
 
Motion  
 
NA 

















































































































































































































Item No. 06 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

Requester: City Engineer Stanton Foerster  
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to negotiate and enter into an agreement with Collin 
County for reimbursement for repairs needed to Forest Grove Road from Country Club Road to 
Orr Road if utilized as a detour for the construction of Orr Road north of the Lucas city limits. 
 
Background Information  
 
The City Engineer has received a request from Collin County Public Works Assistant Director 
Mark Hines, P.E. to possibly use Forest Grove Road as a detour during the construction of Orr 
Road. 
 
Richard A. Arvizu, P.E., with Binkley & Barfield, Inc. is the consulting engineer working on the 
Orr Road plans for Collin County.  He sees the following construction sequencing/traffic control 
options for the construction of Orr Road: 
 

Option 1 - Construct in half-widths.  Close one lane at a time, maintaining two-way 
traffic utilizing temporary traffic signals throughout the duration of construction.  If 
detouring (through the City of Lucas) is not an option, then given the limited room for 
additional (temporary) paving outside the limits of the existing pavement due to the bar 
ditches, the anticipated method would be reconstructing one lane of the two-lane roadway 
at a time all while regulating two-way traffic with radio controlled temporary traffic 
signals (fairly common on County roads with similar conditions).  Having relatively few 
driveways makes slip form paving a viable option, which can reduce the overall 
construction time versus hand pouring.  The roadway would be constructed one half at a 
time - excavate, compact subgrade, install 2” HMAC, install 10” concrete and then do the 
other half the same way. Cross culvert replacement would require a full closure for a 
limited amount of time. Possibly overnight to limit disruption.  Based on the length of the 
proposed roadway reconstruction it is estimated that it will take 4 weeks for each half of 
the roadway for excavation and installation of HMAC and then 4 weeks for each half of 
the roadway for concrete placement (16 weeks total) not counting ditch grading, 
driveway culverts, driveways and cross culverts. 
 
The radio-controlled temporary traffic signal does have its downsides.  It could get 
expensive to have that in place for 16 weeks.  One also has to expect that the signal is 
going to generate resident complaints because of how long they will have to wait on 
either end.  It would require a 2-3-minute clearance time interval between each phase not 
counting the actual green time for either end.  Same for when a vehicle wants to leave a 
driveway.   



Item No. 06 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

 
Option 2 - Construct in half-widths.  Close one lane at a time and detour affected 
traffic (through the City of Lucas on Forest Grove Road) throughout duration of 
construction.  Option 2 is the same as Option 1 except the signals are eliminated and 
affected traffic is detoured (through the City of Lucas on Forest Grove Road). 
 
Option 3 - Fully close Orr Road and construct full width.  Detour all traffic (through 
the City of Lucas on Forest Grove Road).  Option 3 involves full roadway closure, 
detouring all traffic except local traffic (through the City of Lucas on Forest Grove 
Road), and full width slip-form paving. Maintaining driveway access is the main issue 
here.  However, this option is more straight forward and easier to maintain and enforce 
traffic-control wise and would likely be considerably less expensive. 
 
With regards to determining mitigation - a pre- and post-pavement condition survey 
could be conducted to determine what, if any, damages to the pavement occurred during 
the course of construction. A pay item could be added for these pavement repairs. 
 
Below is a summary of the traffic counts taken in 2019: 
 

  
 
• Heavy Vehicle Percentage: Weighing 30 kips to 80 kips*  
• Medium Vehicle Percentage: Weighing 30 kips or less  
• Light Vehicle Percentage: Passenger vehicles 
 
* A kip is a US customary unit of force. It equals 1,000 pounds-force, used primarily by 
American architects and engineers to measure engineering loads. Although uncommon, it 
is occasionally also considered a unit of mass, equal to 1,000 pounds, (i.e., one half of a 
short ton). 
 
The directional split is about 50/50, so if Collin County close one direction, one can 
assume that 50% of the volume will be detoured, so roughly 550 vehicles per day with 55 
considered heavy (30k-80k lbs), 90 vehicles per day considered mid (less than 30k lbs) 
and 400 passenger vehicles. 
 

With all this information above, Binkley & Barfield, Inc. and Collin County have requested an 
answer from the City of Lucas if an approximate +/- 16-week detour using Forest Grove Road 
for affected traffic in Option 2 and Option 3 are acceptable to City of Lucas and all other 
stakeholders? 
 



Item No. 06 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

The City Engineer has estimated to place two inches of Type D asphalt (HMAC) from Country 
Club Road to Orr Road would cost $355,000.  Total reconstruction matching the existing 
pavement (old city standard) would cost $605,000.  Total reconstruction of the 2.21 miles to 
current city standards would cost $938,000. 
 
Old City Standard – six inches of cement stabilization with two inches of Type D asphalt 
Current City Standard – six inches of cement stabilization with two inches of Type D over two 
inches of Type B asphalt. 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
None 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
Texas Bit/APAC is under contract with the City of Lucas for $220,175.76 of work for Forest 
Grove Road to be completed by September 30, 2020. 
 
Recommendation  
 
The City Council may want to consider the following: 
 
I. Do not allow Collin County to detour traffic onto Forest Grove Road. 

  
II. Allow Collin County to detour traffic onto Forest Grove Road with one of the following 

alternatives spelled out in an agreement: 
 
A. A pre- and post-pavement condition survey could be conducted to determine what, if any, 

damages to the pavement occurred during the course of Orr Road construction detour.  
The cost of this alternative is unknown; 

B. To place two inches of Type D asphalt in the amount of $355,000; 
C. Total reconstruction matching the existing pavement in the amount of $605,000; or  
D. Total reconstruction using the current city standards in the amount of $938,000.  

 
Motion  
 
I make a motion to authorize/not authorize the City Manager to negotiate and enter into an 
agreement with Collin County for reimbursement for repairs needed to Forest Grove Road from 
Country Club Road to Orr Road if utilized as a detour for the construction of Orr Road north of 
the Lucas city limits in the amount of $_________________. 



Item No. 07 
 
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

Requester: City Manager Joni Clarke  
 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Consider appropriating $361,355.69 to revenue account 11-4984 and expense account 11-6999-
499  regarding funding received as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security 
Act (CARES Act) for expenses incurred between March 1 through December 30, 2020 related to 
COVID-19 and provide guidance to staff. 

 
Background Information  
 
Collin County has received federal funding in the amount of $171 million dollars under the 
CARES Act to address the impact of COVID-19.   
 
The City of Lucas entered into an Interlocal cooperation Agreement with Collin County for 
Municipal Direct Expense funding on May 21, 2020. 
 
The City has received funds in the amount of $361,355.69 and placed the CARES Act funds in a 
separate, interest bearing account as required.  The fiscal year 19/20 budget needs to be amended 
by appropriating these funds. 
 
In general, eligible expenditures for CARES Act funding must comply with the following 
criteria: 
 

1) the City would have incurred the expense from March 1 through December 30, 2020;  
2) the expense was not a budgeted expense (as of March 27, 2020) and is not revenue 

replacement; and 
3) the expense must be incurred due to COVID-19. 

 
Staff has prepared a spreadsheet of COVID-19 related expenses and potential purchases for the 
City Council’s consideration.  These items have been reviewed by the Finance Director, City 
Manager and has also been reviewed by Susan K. LaFollett CPA, Managing Partner for LaFollett 
and Company PLLC, the City’s Auditor to ensure compliance with the CARES Act guidelines.  
The City received the following response from Ms. LaFollett: 
 
“Hope all is well at the City. I reviewed the list of CARES Act expenses and the Interlocal 
agreement. It appeared that these expenses are reasonable and appropriate given the 
circumstances. They seemed like items that would be needed by the City to comply with safety, 
sanitation, and social distancing requirements going forward. None appeared to be normal 
expenses that the City was using this very specific funding to pay for. Let me know if you need 
anything else. Thanks!” 
 
  



Item No. 07 
 
 
 
 

 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

Attachments/Supporting Documentation  
 
1. Spreadsheet entitled COVID-19 Expenses organized by City Department 
2. U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Coronavirus Relief Fund Guidance for State, 

Territorial, Local and Tribal Governments dated April 22, 2020 
3. U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Coronavirus Relief Fund Frequently Asked Questions 

Update as of May 4, 2020 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
This appropriation will increase revenue (account 11-4984) and expense (account 11-6999-499)  
in the amount of $361,355.69. 
 
Recommendation  
 
City Staff recommends amending the fiscal year 19/20 budget by appropriating $361,355.69 to 
revenue account 11-4984 and expense account 11-6999-499. 
  
Motion  
 
I make a motion to approve/deny appropriating $361,355.69 to revenue account 11-4984 and 
expense account 11-6999-499  regarding funding received as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, 
and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) for expenses incurred between March 1 through 
December 30, 2020 related to COVID-19 and authorize the following expenditures…. 
 
 
 
 
 



COVID-19 Expenses (11-6999-499)

TOTAL CARES FUNDING: 361,355.69$   

Item Date Department POC Vendor Item Description/Justification Costs Notes

1 5/22/2020 Admin KS Nine Band Brewing Hand Sanitizer Hand Sanitizer for special events and  city use 10 gallons @ $24.99 each 249.90$           
2 6/18/2020 Admin SH Swagit Live Video Streaming of CC meetings Allows for residents to view City Council meetings during COVID-19 concerns 24,644.00$     Estimate

3 6/18/2020 Admin KS Rehab Mart Masks for City Events Masks for staff, volunteers and attendees at City events 3,960.00$       
4 6/18/2020 Admin SH Unknown Modifications to Community Center Install audio/video equipment for overflow viewing of CC meetings 601.93$           Estimate #1504
5 3/26/2020 City Council SH Baxter Video Conference Manage Video Conferencing including set-up Mar-Dec 19,710.00$     Will submit monthly invoices
6 5/4/2020 City Council SH Baxter Audio System Update audio equipment for City Council meetings via video conference 10,359.35$     Transfer from 11-6100-222
7 5/7/2020 City Council SH Baxter Camera/Cables Video Conference 975.00$           Transfer from 11-6100-222
8 6/3/2020 City Council SH Baxter Webcam Video Conference for Steve Duke 103.98$           Invoice #5435
9 6/18/2020 City Council SH Baxter Laptops Purchase 14 laptops for video conference for City Council/P&Z meetings 22,114.34$     Estimate #1491
10 6/18/2020 City Council SH Baxter Monitor Monitor for Video Conferencing in Council Chambers 259.99$           Estimate #1491
11 5/6/2020 Dev. Services JH Jones Bros. Doors 2 Hallway Doors 2,920.00$       Transfer from 11-6999-231
12 5/7/2020 Dev. Services SD Petty Cash Hand Sanitizer Hand Sanitizer 160.00$           Transfer from 11-6999-231
13 5/7/2020 Dev. Services SD Texas Electric Electrical Work in Park Allow for Safe Distances between vendors at Events  $     20,000.00 Estimate
14 6/18/2020 Dev. Services JH Baxter Security for Doors Limit public access due to COVID-19 2,499.00$       Estimate
15 ? Dev. Services JB Employee Day Care Day Care Closed due to COVID-19 3,525.60$       
16 ? Dev. Services JH Home Depot Plexiglass Plexiglass installed as barrier for Permits and Utility Billing 304.20$           
17 5/25/2020 Engineering SF Baxter Webcam Webcam for video conferencing 119.99$           
18 3/10/2019 Fire DS Boundtree Gloves EMS Exam Gloves  $            37.50 Previously charged to 11-6300-211

19 3/5/2020 Fire DS Bed Bath & Beyond Handsanitizer Hand sanitizer  $               4.19 Previously charged to 11-6300-201 CC-8666

20 3/5/2020 Fire DS McKesson Handsanitizer Hand sanitizer  $          105.83 Previously charged to 11-6300-201 IN#79339835

21 3/6/2020 Fire DS Boundtree Safety glasses & Gloves Safety glasses & Gloves  $          179.94 Previously charged to 11-6300-211 83533788

22 3/6/2020 Fire DS Boundtree Sani-Wipes Sani-Wipes are used to disinfect hard surfaces in the ambulance and other 
apparatus.

 $            76.68 Previously charged to 11-6300-211 83564531

23 3/13/2020 Fire DS Walmart Cleaning & sanitation supplies Cleaning & sanitation supplies for fire station and apparatus  $          226.42 Previously charged to 11-6300-214 83537808

24 3/13/2020 Fire DS Amazon protective safety glasses EMS protective safety glasses  $            12.25 Previously charged to 11-6300-209 cc-sams

25 3/19/2020 Fire DS Walmart station supplies, COVID Fire station disinfectant supplies  $            83.45 Previously charged to 11-6300-214 CC-9785

26 3/23/2020 Fire DS Boundtree Isolation gowns, surgical masks, N95s Isolation gowns, surgical masks, N95s  $          233.97 Previously charged to 11-6300-211 cc-sams

27 3/23/2020 Fire DS Life-Assist Gloves (M & L) Medical Exam Gloves  $          280.00 Previously charged to 11-6300-211 BACKORDERED

28 3/23/2020 Fire DS Life-Assist Safety Glasses Safety Glasses for emergency personnel  $            72.00 Previously charged to 11-6300-211 985135

29 3/23/2020 Fire DS Walmart lunch bags for decon of face masks Paper bags for storage of face masks  $               3.92 Previously charged to 11-6300-204 986538

30 3/24/2020 Fire DS Boundtree Thermometers No Touch Thermometers, placed in fire station and Squad 861.  $          508.56 Previously charged to 11-6300-211 cc-sams

31 3/27/2020 Fire DS Walmart sanitation materials Fire Station and Apparatus sanitation materials  $          125.63 Previously charged to 11-6300-214 83582566



32 3/30/2020 Fire DS Boundtree Prob covers Thermometer prob covers 24.98 Previously charged to 11-6300-211 cc-sams

33 4/2/2020 Fire DS Payroll - Ian Evans 24 hours, B shift vacancy Coverage for Employee  $          888.73 Previously charged to 11-6300-111 Inv. # 83599557

34 4/2/2020 Fire DS Payroll - Ian Evans 24 hours, B shift vacancy Coverage for Employee  $          888.73 Previously charged to 11-6300-111 3/19/2020 Coverage for vacancy on B shift

35 4/2/2020 Fire DS Amazon Filter material for face masks Filter material for cloth face masks  $          164.08 Previously charged to 11-6300-209 3/25/2020 Coverage for vacancy on B shift

36 4/13/2020 Fire JB Jim Hurley 12 Hours March Stipend - Coverage for Employee 45.00$             Transfer from XXX 4/15/2020 Coverage for vacancy on B shift
37 4/16/2020 Fire DS Payroll - Seth Decker 24 hours, B shift vacancy Coverage for Employee  $          385.50 Previously charged to 11-6300-111 Order #112-4069578-3055421

38 4/30/2020 Fire DS Bound Tree Sanitation Materials Sanitation Materials for fire station and apparatus  $          116.58 Previously charged to 11-6300-211 Inv. # 83611927

39 5/5/2020 Fire DS Baxter IT Acrobat Pro Software-Alderdice Temp. Assignment at Garland TDEM Disaster District Coord-process STAR requests.  $            50.00 11-6999-499 Inv. # 5447

40 5/12/2020 Fire TS Baxter IT & Rugged Laptops Computers 1)Toughbook for patient compartment of ambulance; 2)Laptop for EMS Officer; 3) 
Computer for Fire Captains (distancing); and 4) Computer for 
Firefighter/Paramedics (distancing)

 $       8,300.00 11-6999-499 Inv. # 9537925431

41 5/18/2020 Fire TS GenLantis Ozone Device Decontaminate ambulance and other apparatus  $       8,045.00 11-6999-499
42 5/21/2020 Fire DS Grainger Soap Microbial Soap for fire station dispensers  $          370.50 11-6999-499
43 5/26/2020 Fire TS Advision, Municipal 

Emergency Services, 
Uniform Solutions, Hiax

Daily Uniforms Complete set of daily uniform would provide each member with a new set of 
clothes to change into after a COVID response.

 $     26,000.00 11-6999-499

44 5/26/2020 Fire TS Baxter IT Training Room Remote Connection Distance learning (remote) training equipment since we are not currently allowed 
to do any multicompany EMS or Fire training due to COVID.

 $       1,700.00 11-6999-499

45 5/26/2020 Fire AA Physio-Control LUCAS CPR Device Automatic CPR device  $     25,000.00 11-6999-499
46 5/26/2020 Fire LG Firesafetyusa.com Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

Extractor/Washer
Biological decon extractor to be used for PPE after COVID-19 responses  $       9,500.00 11-6999-499

47 5/26/2020 Fire LG Cozywinters.com Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
Dryer

Biological decon dryer to be used for PPE after COVID-19 responses  $     10,550.00 11-6999-499

48 5/26/2020 Fire AA Boundtree King Vision Laryngoscope Kits and 
accessories

Video intubation laryngoscope allows our Paramedics to spend less time near the 
nose and mouth of a patient while intubating.

 $       5,000.00 11-6999-499

49 5/26/2020 Fire TS Motorola Solutions Radios 2 Portable Radios, 1 Mobile Radio, 2 mobile battery chargers and accessories.  1 
portable and battery charger and 1 mobile radio to be placed in Squad 862 for EMS 
Officer who responds to all COVID calls.  1 portable and 1 battery charger to be 
placed in Gant/Night Incident Command Vehicle.  All radios will be used to keep 
people from sharing radios and possibly exposing each other to COVID.  Extra radio 
communication is required during a COVID call for service.  This request ensures 
continuity of service.

 $     26,800.00 11-6999-499

50 5/26/2020 Fire AA PerforMax Convert Squads to ALS We would like to convert Squad 861 and Squad 862 to ALS units.  Squad 861 
responds with the Ambulance on all COVID calls.  Squad 862 is the unit EMS 
Officer/Infectious Control Officer Alderdice uses when responding to All COVID 
calls.  We have the supplies, just need materials for securing the ALS items.  This 
will allow us to be better equipped for response to COVID calls in the squad.  This 
could allow us not to use anything out of the ambulance, which would allow us to 
get it back in service quicker after a call for service.

 $       3,200.00 11-6999-499



51 5/26/2020 Fire LG Municipal Emergency 
Services

SCBA Bottles Due to the recent events we found the limits on acquiring respiratory protection. 
Obtaining these new cylinders will help insure that respiratory protection is 
available to all members. Obtaining these new cylinders can ensure that we 
continue to be protected when other respiratory equipment is exhausted.  This 
request ensures continuity of service.

 $     21,000.00 11-6999-499

52 5/26/2020 Fire AA Granger EMS Bins Plastic bins to organize EMS supplies in all apparatus.  The main focus would be to 
organize EMS supplies in bins that can be taken into a residence.  The bin can be 
replaced (fully stocked).  The used bin and any item not used in the residence will 
be disinfected, and then returned available for the next call.  This will allow an 
infectious disease bin for each apparatus and two spares in the supply room for 
quick trade out.

 $          400.00 11-6999-499

53 5/27/2020 Fire AA Boundtree CPAP Masks CPAP masks needed for COVID patients during transport. (6 large & 10 Medium) 
Will split purchase between ambulances.

 $          880.00 11-6999-499

54 5/27/2020 Fire AA Physio-Control Cot Loading System Retrofit Medic 861 with automatic cot loading system.  This will ensure only one 
Paramedic is needed when loading the cot into the ambulance.  The second 
Paramedic, who normally helps load the cot, then drives the ambulance to the 
hospital, and then helps unload the cot at the hospital, will not be needed to assist 
loading or unloading the cot, thus decreasing exposure risks. In addition, with this 
system, it will decrease the likelihood of contamination into the front of the 
ambulance.

 $     47,500.00 11-6999-499

55 3/30-4/12 Fire JB Anthony Aguinaga 12 Hours Coverage for Employee 372.08$           Transfer from XXX
56 3/31/2020 NonDept JC NJDH&S Legal Disaster Declaration, Election, Families Firs Coronavirus Response Act, etc. 1,017.50$       Transfer from 11-6999-310

57 4/30/2020 NonDept JC NJDH&S Legal Legal fees re: Order issued by Governor and Disaster Declaration 277.50$           Transfer from 11-6999-310
58 3/19/2020 Parks KS Fast Signs Park Closure Park Closure Sings due to COVID-19 213.71$           Transfer from 11-6211-417
59 3/20/2020 Parks KS Fast Signs Restriction Public Restrictions Signs due to COVID-19 155.00$           Transfer from 11-6211-417
60 5/12/2020 Parks JH Hubert Company Portable Sinks Portable Hand Sinks to encourage hand washing at Farmers Market 2,357.50$       11-6999-499
61 April & May Public Works JB PW staff 12 Hours Shifts OT attributed to schedule modification to allow safe distancing 2,171.27$       Transfer from XXX
62 Mar & Apr Varies JB Employees Admin Leave Symptoms of COVID-19 1,922.45$       Transfer from XXX

TOTAL PROJECTED COVID-19 EXPENSES: 319,753.73$   

REMAINING BALANCE: 41,601.96$     



   

 
 

 
   

     
    

        
      

     
 

        

  
 

   
  

  
 

 
 

      
      

   
     

    
  

       
    

  

    
 

    
 

 
   

      

                                                            
                

Coronavirus Relief Fund  
Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments  

April 22, 2020  

The purpose of this document is to provide guidance to recipients of the funding available under section 
601(a) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 
Security Act (“CARES Act”).  The CARES Act established the Coronavirus Relief Fund (the “Fund”) 
and appropriated $150 billion to the Fund.  Under the CARES Act, the Fund is to be used to make 
payments for specified uses to States and certain local governments; the District of Columbia and U.S. 
Territories (consisting of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the United States Virgin Islands, Guam, 
American Samoa, and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands); and Tribal governments. 

The CARES Act provides that payments from the Fund may only be used to cover costs that— 

1. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to 
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID–19); 

2. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 (the 
date of enactment of the CARES Act) for the State or government; and 

3. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on December 30, 
2020.1 

The guidance that follows sets forth the Department of the Treasury’s interpretation of these limitations 
on the permissible use of Fund payments. 

Necessary expenditures incurred  due to the  public  health emergency  

The requirement that expenditures be incurred “due to” the public health emergency means that 
expenditures must be used for actions taken to respond to the public health emergency.  These may 
include expenditures incurred to allow the State, territorial, local, or Tribal government to respond 
directly to the emergency, such as by addressing medical or public health needs, as well as expenditures 
incurred to respond to second-order effects of the emergency, such as by providing economic support to 
those suffering from employment or business interruptions due to COVID-19-related business closures. 

Funds may not be used to fill shortfalls in government revenue to cover expenditures that would not 
otherwise qualify under the statute. Although a broad range of uses is allowed, revenue replacement is 
not a permissible use of Fund payments. 

The statute also specifies that expenditures using Fund payments must be “necessary.”  The Department 
of the Treasury understands this term broadly to mean that the expenditure is reasonably necessary for its 
intended use in the reasonable judgment of the government officials responsible for spending Fund 
payments. 

Costs  not accounted for in the budget  most recently approved as  of March 27, 2020  

The CARES Act also requires that payments be used only to cover costs that were not accounted for in 
the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020.  A cost meets this requirement if either (a) the 
cost cannot lawfully be funded using a line item, allotment, or allocation within that budget or (b) the cost 

1 See Section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the CARES Act. 

1 



   

 
 

     
 

        
    

  
   

 

   

  

    
      

    
    
   

  
     

 
 
    

  
  

   
  
  

   
 

 
   

  
    
   

is for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or 
allocation.  

The “most recently approved” budget refers to the enacted budget for the relevant fiscal period for the 
particular government, without taking into account subsequent supplemental appropriations enacted or 
other budgetary adjustments made by that government in response to the COVID-19 public health 
emergency. A cost is not considered to have been accounted for in a budget merely because it could be 
met using a budgetary stabilization fund, rainy day fund, or similar reserve account. 

Costs  incurred during the  period that  begins on March 1, 2020,  and ends on December 30, 2020  

A cost is “incurred” when the responsible unit of government has expended funds to cover the cost. 

Nonexclusive examples  of eligible expenditures  

Eligible expenditures include, but are not limited to, payment for: 
1.  Medical expenses  such as:  

• COVID-19-related expenses of public hospitals, clinics, and similar facilities. 
• Expenses of establishing temporary public medical facilities and other measures to increase 

COVID-19 treatment capacity, including related construction costs. 
• Costs of providing COVID-19 testing, including serological testing. 
• Emergency medical response expenses, including emergency medical transportation, related 

to COVID-19. 
• Expenses for establishing and operating public telemedicine capabilities for COVID-19-

related treatment.  
2. Public health  expenses such as:  

• Expenses for communication and enforcement by State, territorial, local, and Tribal 
governments of public health orders related to COVID-19. 

• Expenses for acquisition and distribution of medical and protective supplies, including 
sanitizing products and personal protective equipment, for medical personnel, police officers, 
social workers, child protection services, and child welfare officers, direct service providers 
for older adults and individuals with disabilities in community settings, and other public 
health or safety workers in connection with the COVID-19 public health emergency.  

• Expenses for disinfection of public areas and other facilities, e.g., nursing homes, in response 
to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

• Expenses for technical assistance to local authorities or other entities on mitigation of 
COVID-19-related threats to public health and safety. 

• Expenses for public safety measures undertaken in response to COVID-19. 
• Expenses for quarantining individuals. 

3.  Payroll  expenses  for public safety, public health, health care,  human services, and similar  
employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-
19 public health emergency.  

2 



   

 
 

     
  

   
 

    
  

       
 

    
   

 
      

  

      
   

    
   

    
 

 

 

  
  
    
  
      

   

                                                            
                

             
                 
                
            
            

               
                      
     

4.  Expenses of actions to facilitate compliance with COVID-19-related public health measures,  such  
as:  
• Expenses for food delivery to residents, including, for example, senior citizens and other 

vulnerable populations, to enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions. 
• Expenses to facilitate distance learning, including technological improvements, in connection 

with school closings to enable compliance with COVID-19 precautions. 
• Expenses to improve telework capabilities for public employees to enable compliance with 

COVID-19 public health precautions. 
• Expenses of providing paid sick and paid family and medical leave to public employees to 

enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions. 
• COVID-19-related expenses of maintaining state prisons and county jails, including as relates 

to sanitation and improvement of social distancing measures, to enable compliance with 
COVID-19 public health precautions. 

• Expenses for care for homeless populations provided to mitigate COVID-19 effects and 
enable compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions. 

5.  Expenses associated with the provision  of  economic support  in connection with the COVID-19 
public  health emergency,  such as:  
• Expenditures related to the provision of grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of 

business interruption caused by required closures. 
• Expenditures related to a State, territorial, local, or Tribal government payroll support 

program. 
• Unemployment insurance costs related to the COVID-19 public health emergency if such 

costs will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act or 
otherwise. 

6.  Any other  COVID-19-related  expenses  reasonably  necessary to the function of  government that  
satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria.  

Nonexclusive examples of ineligible expenditures2  
The following is a list of examples of costs that would not be eligible expenditures of payments from the 
Fund. 

1. Expenses for the State share of Medicaid.3 

2. Damages covered by insurance. 
3. Payroll or benefits expenses for employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated to 

mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

2 In addition, pursuant to section 5001(b) of the CARES Act, payments from the Fund may not be expended for an 
elective abortion or on research in which a human embryo is destroyed, discarded, or knowingly subjected to risk of 
injury or death. The prohibition on payment for abortions does not apply to an abortion if the pregnancy is the result 
of an act of rape or incest; or in the case where a woman suffers from a physical disorder, physical injury, or 
physical illness, including a life-endangering physical condition caused by or arising from the pregnancy itself, that 
would, as certified by a physician, place the woman in danger of death unless an abortion is performed. 
Furthermore, no government which receives payments from the Fund may discriminate against a health care entity 
on the basis that the entity does not provide, pay for, provide coverage of, or refer for abortions. 
3 See 42 C.F.R. § 433.51 and 45 C.F.R. § 75.306. 

3 



   

 
 

      
    

  
    
    
  
  
 

4. Expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any federal program, such as the 
reimbursement by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act of contributions by States 
to State unemployment funds. 

5. Reimbursement to donors for donated items or services. 
6. Workforce bonuses other than hazard pay or overtime. 
7. Severance pay. 
8. Legal settlements. 

4 



1 
 

Coronavirus Relief Fund  
Frequently Asked Questions 
Updated as of May 4, 2020 

 
The following answers to frequently asked questions supplement Treasury’s Coronavirus Relief Fund 
(“Fund”) Guidance for State, Territorial, Local, and Tribal Governments, dated April 22, 2020, 
(“Guidance”).1 Amounts paid from the Fund are subject to the restrictions outlined in the Guidance and 
set forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, 
Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”). 

Eligible Expenditures 

Are governments required to submit proposed expenditures to Treasury for approval?  
 
No.  Governments are responsible for making determinations as to what expenditures are necessary due to 
the public health emergency with respect to COVID-19 and do not need to submit any proposed 
expenditures to Treasury.   
 
The Guidance says that funding can be used to meet payroll expenses for public safety, public health, 
health care, human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to 
mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  How does a government 
determine whether payroll expenses for a given employee satisfy the “substantially dedicated” 
condition? 

The Fund is designed to provide ready funding to address unforeseen financial needs and risks created by 
the COVID-19 public health emergency.  For this reason, and as a matter of administrative convenience 
in light of the emergency nature of this program, a State, territorial, local, or Tribal government may 
presume that payroll costs for public health and public safety employees are payments for services 
substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency, unless the 
chief executive (or equivalent) of the relevant government determines that specific circumstances indicate 
otherwise. 
 
The Guidance says that a cost was not accounted for in the most recently approved budget if the cost is 
for a substantially different use from any expected use of funds in such a line item, allotment, or 
allocation.  What would qualify as a “substantially different use” for purposes of the Fund eligibility? 
 
Costs incurred for a “substantially different use” include, but are not necessarily limited to, costs of 
personnel and services that were budgeted for in the most recently approved budget but which, due 
entirely to the COVID-19 public health emergency, have been diverted to substantially different 
functions.  This would include, for example, the costs of redeploying corrections facility staff to enable 
compliance with COVID-19 public health precautions through work such as enhanced sanitation or 
enforcing social distancing measures; the costs of redeploying police to support management and 
enforcement of stay-at-home orders; or the costs of diverting educational support staff or faculty to 
develop online learning capabilities, such as through providing information technology support that is not 
part of the staff or faculty’s ordinary responsibilities.   
 
Note that a public function does not become a “substantially different use” merely because it is provided 
from a different location or through a different manner.  For example, although developing online 

                                                           
1 The Guidance is available at https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-
State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf. 

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf


2 
 

instruction capabilities may be a substantially different use of funds, online instruction itself is not a 
substantially different use of public funds than classroom instruction. 
 
May a State receiving a payment transfer funds to a local government? 

Yes, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary expenditure incurred due to the public health 
emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.  Such funds would be 
subject to recoupment by the Treasury Department if they have not been used in a manner consistent with 
section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.   

May a unit of local government receiving a Fund payment transfer funds to another unit of 
government?     

Yes.  For example, a county may transfer funds to a city, town, or school district within the county and a 
county or city may transfer funds to its State, provided that the transfer qualifies as a necessary 
expenditure incurred due to the public health emergency and meets the other criteria of section 601(d) of 
the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  For example, a transfer from a county to a constituent 
city would not be permissible if the funds were intended to be used simply to fill shortfalls in government 
revenue to cover expenditures that would not otherwise qualify as an eligible expenditure. 

Is a Fund payment recipient required to transfer funds to a smaller, constituent unit of government 
within its borders?     

No.  For example, a county recipient is not required to transfer funds to smaller cities within the county’s 
borders.   
 
Are recipients required to use other federal funds or seek reimbursement under other federal programs 
before using Fund payments to satisfy eligible expenses?   
 
No.  Recipients may use Fund payments for any expenses eligible under section 601(d) of the Social 
Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  Fund payments are not required to be used as the source of 
funding of last resort.  However, as noted below, recipients may not use payments from the Fund to cover 
expenditures for which they will receive reimbursement.   
 
Are there prohibitions on combining a transaction supported with Fund payments with other CARES 
Act funding or COVID-19 relief Federal funding? 

 
Recipients will need to consider the applicable restrictions and limitations of such other sources of 
funding.  In addition, expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any federal program, such as 
the reimbursement by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act of contributions by States to 
State unemployment funds, are not eligible uses of Fund payments.   
  
Are States permitted to use Fund payments to support state unemployment insurance funds generally?  
 
To the extent that the costs incurred by a state unemployment insurance fund are incurred due to the 
COVID-19 public health emergency, a State may use Fund payments to make payments to its respective 
state unemployment insurance fund, separate and apart from such State’s obligation to the unemployment 
insurance fund as an employer.  This will permit States to use Fund payments to prevent expenses related 
to the public health emergency from causing their state unemployment insurance funds to become 
insolvent.   
 



3 
 

Are recipients permitted to use Fund payments to pay for unemployment insurance costs incurred by 
the recipient as an employer?  
 
Yes, Fund payments may be used for unemployment insurance costs incurred by the recipient as an 
employer (for example, as a reimbursing employer) related to the COVID-19 public health emergency if 
such costs will not be reimbursed by the federal government pursuant to the CARES Act or otherwise.  
 
The Guidance states that the Fund may support a “broad range of uses” including payroll expenses for 
several classes of employees whose services are “substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to 
the COVID-19 public health emergency.”  What are some examples of types of covered employees?  
 
The Guidance provides examples of broad classes of employees whose payroll expenses would be eligible 
expenses under the Fund.  These classes of employees include public safety, public health, health care, 
human services, and similar employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or 
responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency.  Payroll and benefit costs associated with public 
employees who could have been furloughed or otherwise laid off but who were instead repurposed to 
perform previously unbudgeted functions substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 
COVID-19 public health emergency are also covered.  Other eligible expenditures include payroll and 
benefit costs of educational support staff or faculty responsible for developing online learning capabilities 
necessary to continue educational instruction in response to COVID-19-related school closures.  Please 
see the Guidance for a discussion of what is meant by an expense that was not accounted for in the budget 
most recently approved as of March 27, 2020.   
 
In some cases, first responders and critical health care workers that contract COVID-19 are eligible 
for workers’ compensation coverage.  Is the cost of this expanded workers compensation coverage 
eligible? 
 
Increased workers compensation cost to the government due to the COVID-19 public health emergency 
incurred during the period beginning March 1, 2020, and ending December 30, 2020, is an eligible 
expense. 
 
If a recipient would have decommissioned equipment or not renewed a lease on particular office space 
or equipment but decides to continue to use the equipment or to renew the lease in order to respond to 
the public health emergency, are the costs associated with continuing to operate the equipment or the 
ongoing lease payments eligible expenses? 
 
Yes.  To the extent the expenses were previously unbudgeted and are otherwise consistent with section 
601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance, such expenses would be eligible. 
 
May recipients provide stipends to employees for eligible expenses (for example, a stipend to employees 
to improve telework capabilities) rather than require employees to incur the eligible cost and submit for 
reimbursement? 
 
Expenditures paid for with payments from the Fund must be limited to those that are necessary due to the 
public health emergency.  As such, unless the government were to determine that providing assistance in 
the form of a stipend is an administrative necessity, the government should provide such assistance on a 
reimbursement basis to ensure as much as possible that funds are used to cover only eligible expenses.    
 



4 
 

May Fund payments be used for COVID-19 public health emergency recovery planning? 
 
Yes.  Expenses associated with conducting a recovery planning project or operating a recovery 
coordination office would be eligible, if the expenses otherwise meet the criteria set forth in section 
601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance. 
 
Are expenses associated with contact tracing eligible? 
 
Yes, expenses associated with contract tracing are eligible. 
 
To what extent may a government use Fund payments to support the operations of private hospitals? 
 
Governments may use Fund payments to support public or private hospitals to the extent that the costs are 
necessary expenditures incurred due to the COVID-19 public health emergency, but the form such 
assistance would take may differ.  In particular, financial assistance to private hospitals could take the 
form of a grant or a short-term loan. 
 
May payments from the Fund be used to assist individuals with enrolling in a government benefit 
program for those who have been laid off due to COVID-19 and thereby lost health insurance? 
 
Yes.  To the extent that the relevant government official determines that these expenses are necessary and 
they meet the other requirements set forth in section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the 
Guidance, these expenses are eligible. 
 
May recipients use Fund payments to facilitate livestock depopulation incurred by producers due to 
supply chain disruptions? 
 
Yes, to the extent these efforts are deemed necessary for public health reasons or as a form of economic 
support as a result of the COVID-19 health emergency. 
 
Would providing a consumer grant program to prevent eviction and assist in preventing homelessness 
be considered an eligible expense? 
 
Yes, assuming that the recipient considers the grants to be a necessary expense incurred due to the 
COVID-19 public health emergency and the grants meet the other requirements for the use of Fund 
payments under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  As a general matter, 
providing assistance to recipients to enable them to meet property tax requirements would not be an 
eligible use of funds, but exceptions may be made in the case of assistance designed to prevent 
foreclosures. 
 
May recipients create a “payroll support program” for public employees? 
 
Use of payments from the Fund to cover payroll or benefits expenses of public employees are limited to 
those employees whose work duties are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 
COVID-19 public health emergency.   
 
May recipients use Fund payments to cover employment and training programs for employees that 
have been furloughed due to the public health emergency?  
 
Yes, this would be an eligible expense if the government determined that the costs of such employment 
and training programs would be necessary due to the public health emergency. 



5 
 

 
May recipients use Fund payments to provide emergency financial assistance to individuals and 
families directly impacted by a loss of income due to the COVID-19 public health emergency?   
 
Yes, if a government determines such assistance to be a necessary expenditure.  Such assistance could 
include, for example, a program to assist individuals with payment of overdue rent or mortgage payments 
to avoid eviction or foreclosure or unforeseen financial costs for funerals and other emergency individual 
needs.  Such assistance should be structured in a manner to ensure as much as possible, within the realm 
of what is administratively feasible, that such assistance is necessary. 
 
The Guidance provides that eligible expenditures may include expenditures related to the provision of 
grants to small businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures.  
What is meant by a “small business,” and is the Guidance intended to refer only to expenditures to 
cover administrative expenses of such a grant program? 
 
Governments have discretion to determine what payments are necessary.  A program that is aimed at 
assisting small businesses with the costs of business interruption caused by required closures should be 
tailored to assist those businesses in need of such assistance.  The amount of a grant to a small business to 
reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures would also be an eligible 
expenditure under section 601(d) of the Social Security Act, as outlined in the Guidance.   
 
The Guidance provides that expenses associated with the provision of economic support in connection 
with the public health emergency, such as expenditures related to the provision of grants to small 
businesses to reimburse the costs of business interruption caused by required closures, would 
constitute eligible expenditures of Fund payments.  Would such expenditures be eligible in the absence 
of a stay-at-home order?  
 
Fund payments may be used for economic support in the absence of a stay-at-home order if such 
expenditures are determined by the government to be necessary.  This may include, for example, a grant 
program to benefit small businesses that close voluntarily to promote social distancing measures or that 
are affected by decreased customer demand as a result of the COVID-19 public health emergency.   
 
May Fund payments be used to assist impacted property owners with the payment of their property 
taxes? 
 
Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the provision of 
assistance to meet tax obligations.    
 
May Fund payments be used to replace foregone utility fees?  If not, can Fund payments be used as a 
direct subsidy payment to all utility account holders?  
  
Fund payments may not be used for government revenue replacement, including the replacement of 
unpaid utility fees.  Fund payments may be used for subsidy payments to electricity account holders to the 
extent that the subsidy payments are deemed by the recipient to be necessary expenditures incurred due to 
the COVID-19 public health emergency and meet the other criteria of section 601(d) of the Social 
Security Act outlined in the Guidance.  For example, if determined to be a necessary expenditure, a 
government could provide grants to individuals facing economic hardship to allow them to pay their 
utility fees and thereby continue to receive essential services.   
 
Could Fund payments be used for capital improvement projects that broadly provide potential 
economic development in a community?  



6 
 

In general, no.  If capital improvement projects are not necessary expenditures incurred due to the 
COVID-19 public health emergency, then Fund payments may not be used for such projects. 
 
However, Fund payments may be used for the expenses of, for example, establishing temporary public 
medical facilities and other measures to increase COVID-19 treatment capacity or improve mitigation 
measures, including related construction costs. 
 
The Guidance includes workforce bonuses as an example of ineligible expenses but provides that 
hazard pay would be eligible if otherwise determined to be a necessary expense.  Is there a specific 
definition of “hazard pay”? 
 
Hazard pay means additional pay for performing hazardous duty or work involving physical hardship, in 
each case that is related to COVID-19.  
 
The Guidance provides that ineligible expenditures include “[p]ayroll or benefits expenses for 
employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 
COVID-19 public health emergency.”  Is this intended to relate only to public employees? 
 
Yes.  This particular nonexclusive example of an ineligible expenditure relates to public employees.  A 
recipient would not be permitted to pay for payroll or benefit expenses of private employees and any 
financial assistance (such as grants or short-term loans) to private employers are not subject to the 
restriction that the private employers’ employees must be substantially dedicated to mitigating or 
responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 
 
May counties pre-pay with CARES Act funds for expenses such as a one or two-year facility lease, 
such as to house staff hired in response to COVID-19? 

A government should not make prepayments on contracts using payments from the Fund to the extent that 
doing so would not be consistent with its ordinary course policies and procedures.   

Questions Related to Administration of Fund Payments   

Do governments have to return unspent funds to Treasury? 

Yes. Section 601(f)(2) of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001(a) of the CARES Act, 
provides for recoupment by the Department of the Treasury of amounts received from the Fund that have 
not been used in a manner consistent with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. If a government has 
not used funds it has received to cover costs that were incurred by December 30, 2020, as required by the 
statute, those funds must be returned to the Department of the Treasury. 
 
What records must be kept by governments receiving payment? 
A government should keep records sufficient to demonstrate that the amount of Fund payments to the 
government has been used in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act 
  
May recipients deposit Fund payments into interest bearing accounts?   
 
Yes, provided that if recipients separately invest amounts received from the Fund, they must use the 
interest earned or other proceeds of these investments only to cover expenditures incurred in accordance 
with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act and the Guidance on eligible expenses.  If a government 
deposits Fund payments in a government’s general account, it may use those funds to meet immediate 
cash management needs provided that the full amount of the payment is used to cover necessary 



7 
 

expenditures.  Fund payments are not subject to the Cash Management Improvement Act of 1990, as 
amended. 
 
May governments retain assets purchased with payments from the Fund? 

Yes, if the purchase of the asset was consistent with the limitations on the eligible use of funds provided 
by section 601(d) of the Social Security Act.  

What rules apply to the proceeds of disposition or sale of assets acquired using payments from the 
Fund? 

If such assets are disposed of prior to December 30, 2020, the proceeds would be subject to the 
restrictions on the eligible use of payments from the Fund provided by section 601(d) of the Social 
Security Act. 



Item No. 08 
 
 
 

 
 

City of Lucas 
Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 
 

Requester: Mayor Jim Olk  
City Secretary Stacy Henderson  

 
Agenda Item Request  
 
Consider postponement of proposed amendments to the City’s Home Rule Charter from the 
November 3, 2020 special election to the May 1, 2021 special election. 
 
Background Information  
 
At the City Council special meeting held on March 26, 2020, the City Council unanimously 
adopted Ordinance 2020-03-00907 postponing the General and Special Election ordered for May 
2, 2020 to November 3, 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
On the special election ballot for November 3, 2020, there are 18 amendments to the City’s 
Home Rule Charter, and each amendment must be voted upon individually. Due to the fact that 
the November 3, 2020 election will contain items from two election cycles, May 2020 and 
November 2020, this will result in a lengthy ballot. City staff is recommending postponing the 
portion of the special election only relating to charter amendments from the November 3, 2020 
special election to the May 1, 2021 special election. The street sales tax allocation on the special 
election ballot and the general election ballot will remain unchanged.  
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation        
 
NA 
 
Budget/Financial Impact  
 
NA 
 
Recommendation  
 
City Staff recommends moving proposed charter amendments from the special election 
scheduled for November 3, 2020 to the special election to be held on May 1, 2021. 
  
Motion  
 
I make a motion to approve/deny moving the proposed amendments to the City’s Home Rule 
Charter from the special election scheduled for November 3, 2020 to the special election on May 
1, 2021. 
 
 



City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

June 18, 2020 

Item No. 09 

Requester: Mayor Jim Olk 
 
Agenda Item Request 

 

 

Executive Session: 
 

An Executive Session is not scheduled for this meeting. 
 

As authorized by Section 551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the City Council may 
convene into closed Executive Session for the purpose of seeking confidential legal advice from 
the City Attorney regarding any item on the agenda at any time during the meeting. This meeting 
is closed to the public as provided in the Texas Government Code. 

 
Background Information 

 

 

NA 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation 

 

 

NA 
 
Budget/Financial Impact 

 

 

NA 
 
Recommendation 

 

 

NA 
 
Motion 

 

 

NA 



City of Lucas 
City Council Agenda Request 

June 4, 2020 

Item No. 10 

 
 

Requester: Mayor Jim Olk 
 
Agenda Item Request 

 

 

Reconvene from Executive Session and take any action necessary as a result of the Executive 
Session. 

 
Background Information 

 

 

NA 
 
Attachments/Supporting Documentation 

 

 

NA 
 
Budget/Financial Impact 

 

 

NA 
 
Recommendation 

 

 

NA 
 
Motion 

 

 

NA 


	1. Citizen Input 
	2. Community Interest 
	3. Consent Agenda 
	4. Broadband Project 
	5. Traffic Studies - Estelle/Winningkoff 
	6. Collin County Reimbursement for Repairs 
	7. Appropriating CARES Act Funding 
	8. Postponement of Charter Amendments 
	9. Executive Session
	10. Reconvene from Executive Session 



